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Robust and Responsive Growth
Grand Design 100: Phase III Begins



The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., established in 1917, is a leading tire 

manufacturer. It has also deployed its polymer expertise in several lines of 

diversified business, including high-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, other 

industrial products, aircraft fixtures and components, and golf equipment. 

 Yokohama is laying a foundation for sustainable growth in tires and in 

diversified products in Japan and overseas by developing high-functionality 

products and by expanding its production capacity. The Company’s blueprint for 

growth is Grand Design 100, a medium-term management plan launched in 2006. 

That plan, which culminates in 2017, comprises four three-year phases. 

Yokohama’s cumulative, three-year targets in Phase III, which began in 2012, are 

to achieve net sales of ¥1.8 trillion, operating income of ¥150.0 billion, and 

operating return on sales of 8.3%. 
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Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking estimates and forecasts based on management’s plans, which are subject to unforeseeable 
risks and uncertainties. The Company’s business results could differ significantly from those estimates and forecasts.
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Notes:
• Here and throughout this report, the U.S. dollar amounts have been translated from Japanese yen, solely for the convenience 

of readers, at the rate of ¥77.74 = US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on December 31, 2011.
• Yokohama has shifted to a calendar-year fiscal accounting, from an April-to-March fiscal accounting. That resulted in a 

one-time-only nine-month fiscal period ended December 31, 2011. Year-on-year comparisons of operating results are 
therefore impossible, and this report dispenses with any such comparisons.
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To Our Stakeholders

Eyeing Record-Level Earnings in 2012, 
the First Year of  Phase III in Our Grand Design 100 
Medium-Term Management Plan

We thank you for your continuing 

support and goodwill. We thank you, too, 

for keeping a place in your hearts for the 

victims of the Great East Japan 

Earthquake. Let us all pray for the earliest 

possible recovery in the communities 

a�ected by the disaster.

Higher-than-Expected Sales and Earnings 

We shi�ed in 2011 to calendar-year �scal accounting, �om 
April-to-March �scal accounting. �at resulted in a one-time-only 
nine-month �scal period ended December 31, 2011. Year-on-year 
comparisons of operating results are therefore impossible, and this 
report dispenses with any such comparisons. 

In the nine-month fiscal period under review, we posted 

net sales of ¥465.1 billion, operating income of ¥26.3 

billion, and net income of ¥11.6 billion. All three figures 

were higher than the projections that we announced in 

November 2011. 

 Our better-than-expected sales and earnings 

performance reflects stronger-than-anticipated business in 

tires in Japan and overseas, accelerated progress in 

reducing costs, ahead-of-schedule success in instituting 

price increases, and smaller-than-expected adverse effects 

from the continuing rise in raw material prices and from 

the continuing appreciation of the yen. We continued to 

share our growth with shareholders by paying annual 

dividends of ¥7 per share—an end-of-the-period dividend 

of ¥4 and an interim dividend of ¥3. 

The Beginning of Grand Design 100 Phase III

In 2012, we have entered the first year of Phase III in our 

medium-term management plan, Grand Design 100. That 

plan, launched in April 2006, covers the years to 2017, 

our corporate centennial. It comprises four phases of 

three years each. We completed Phase I in March 2009 

and Phase II in December 2011.

 Our long-term financial goals in Grand Design 100 

originally centered on achieving annual net sales of ¥1 

trillion, annual operating income of ¥100 billion, and 

annual operating return on sales of 10%. 

Phase II Progress in Establishing Structural 

Profitability 

We marked important progress during Phase II in positioning 

our operations to generate profits irrespective of changes 

in the operating environment. The economic and business 

environment deteriorated as global demand slumped in 

the wake of the Lehman Shock of September 2008, the 

yen appreciated, and raw material prices rose. Our aggregate 

net sales in the two years and nine months of Phase II, at 

¥1,451.2 billion, were 7.3% lower than in the three years 

of Phase I. Our aggregate operating income was 15.2% 

higher, however, and our aggregate operating return on 

sales rose a percentage point, to 5.3%. 

Targets for Phase III

Our cumulative, three-year targets for financial 

performance in Phase III call for aggregate net sales of 

¥1.8 trillion, cumulative operating income of ¥150.0 

billion, and cumulative operating return on sales of 8.3%. 

We are aiming for net sales of ¥630.0 billion, operating 

income of ¥60.0 billion, and operating return on sales of 

9.5% in the third and culminating year of Phase III. 

Robust and Responsive Growth

The operating environment is bound to present a diversity 

of change and risk during the three years of Grand Design 

100 Phase III. We will need to cope with that change and 

risk while also addressing some issues that have arisen for 

our company. Most notably, we need to expand our 

production capacity for tires more rapidly to keep up with 

growing global demand.

 We have adopted the slogan “Robust and 

Responsive Growth” for Phase III. That slogan expresses 

our determination to continue strengthening our operations 

while maximizing our flexibility in responding to changes 

in the business environment. It describes what we need to 

do to set the stage for accelerating growth in Phase IV. 

 Changes in the operating environment have obliged 

us to defer the horizon for attaining our ¥1 trillion annual 

sales target to 2019 or 2020. We now project that net 

sales in 2017, the culminating year of Grand Design 100, 

will total about ¥850 billion and that we will achieve our 

¥100 billion target for operating income on schedule, in 

2017. That would mean achieving our 10% target for 

operating return on sales ahead of schedule. 

Strategy for Achieving our Grand Design 100 

Targets

We will invest in expanding our production capacity 

greatly in Phase III, especially in tires. Expanding our 

supply capacity will position us to serve the growth in 

demand in growth markets, and that will generate 

liquidity to fund further investment. We will pursue our 

10% goal for operating return on sales, meanwhile, by 

strengthening our cost competitiveness and by bolstering 

our brand appeal. You will find on pages 6 to 9 a description 

of our strategy for in tires, diversified products, and 

technology for achieving our Grand Design 100 targets. 

Plans for Raising the Dividend in 2012

Our fiscal projections for 2012 call for net sales of ¥575.0 

billion, operating income of ¥40.0 billion, and net income 

of ¥25.0 billion. The projected earnings would be at 

historic high levels for our company. We propose to 

increase the full-period dividend to ¥13 per share—an 

interim dividend of ¥6 and a year-end dividend of ¥7. 

That would be a ¥6 increase over the dividend payment 

for the nine-month fiscal period ended December 31, 

2011, and a ¥3 increase over the ¥10 full-year dividend 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. 

 All of us at Yokohama are committed to fulfilling 

your highest expectations. Grand Design 100 is a 

framework for achieving the kind of growth that you 

rightly expect of our company. And we will be doing our 

utmost in Phase III to build on our momentum. 

 

March 2012

Tadanobu Nagumo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hikomitsu Noji
President

Tadanobu Nagumo (left), Chairman and CEO, and Hikomitsu Noji, President
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YOKOHAMA at a GlanceYOKOHAMA at a Glance

Net Sales: 

¥465.1 billion

Operating Income:

¥26.3 billion

¥68.2 billion 
(14.7% of net sales)

¥17.7 billion  
(3.8% of net sales)

¥379.2 billion 
(81.5% of net sales)

Other Products

Tires

Industrial Products

¥1.7 billion 
(6.5% of operating income)

¥1.2 billion 
(4.6% of operating income)

¥23.4 billion 
(88.9% of operating income)

Other Products

Tires

Industrial Products

Tires

Principal products
Tires for passenger cars and light trucks, for trucks and buses, and for construction and mining equipment, 
industrial vehicles, and other applications; aluminum alloy wheels and other peripheral products

Industrial Products

Principal products
High-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, 
conveyor belts, antiseismic products, marine hoses, 
pneumatic marine fenders

Other Products

Principal products
Aircraft fixtures and components, golf equipment

Globalizing the Yokohama name
Yokohama is stepping up its global marketing for 
distinctive product lines under the “Yokohama” 
branding umbrella. That includes promoting consumer 
tires worldwide in such product lines as Yokohama’s 
high-performance flagship ADVAN tires, the BluEarth 
fuel-saving tires, the iceGUARD winter tires, and the 
GEOLANDAR tires for sport-utility vehicles. The company’s 
BluEarth tires address the mounting demand worldwide 
for improvements in fuel economy. Yokohama markets 
BluEarth tires in Japan, in Europe, and in China and is 
preparing to introduce the brand in North America and 
in additional Asian nations. Meanwhile, the company 
strengthens its brand image by supplying tires to racing 

teams and raises its market profile by winning fitments 
on internationally prominent vehicle models.

Expanding the Yokohama presence in commercial tires
Truck and bus tires and off-the-road tires are important 
emphases in product strategy at Yokohama. That 
includes expanding business in advanced-functionality tires 
for trucks and buses, such as ultralow-profile truck and 
bus tires that are based on original technology. It also 
means expanding business in retreaded tires. In addition, 
Yokohama serves the surging demand for large tires for 
off-the-road equipment in mineral-producing nations. It 
is expanding its production and marketing especially of 
radial tires in sizes of 49 inches and larger.

Japan’s market leader in high-pressure hoses and 
in construction and automotive sealants
Yokohama asserts unique strengths in developing and 
marketing high-pressure hoses and sealants and adhesives. 
Those strengths underlie the Company’s market 
leadership in high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, in sealants for buildings, and in window 
sealants for automobiles.

A world leader in marine hoses and marine 
fenders
The Company holds a global market share of some 
70% in pneumatic fenders for protecting ship hulls. It is 
augmenting its presence in that sector with high-value-added 
products for addressing user needs; for example, a 
remote-sensing system under development for monitoring 
the positioning of the fenders and ship hulls. Yokohama 
is also a leading supplier of marine hoses for loading 
and unloading crude oil.

Lightweight, high-strength fixtures and 
components for commercial aircraft
Yokohama supplies lavatory modules for the Boeing 
737 airliner, onboard stairways for the B747-8I, 
drinking-water tanks for nearly every Boeing airliner 
model, and drinking-water and wastewater tanks for 
the Airbus A380. Underlying the competitiveness of 
Yokohama’s aircraft products are the Company’s 
unique strengths in fabricating lightweight, 
high-strength items from fiber-reinforced plastic.

Advanced golf equipment
The head-speed theory adopted in Yokohama’s PRGR 
line of golf clubs in 1984 has become axiomatic in the 
golf world. And Yokohama has continued to earn 
plaudits for advanced golf equipment that exhibits 
breakthrough insights and a scientific approach to 
product development. The Company markets its golf 
equipment in the Republic of Korea, China, Taiwan, and 
nations of Southeast Asia.

For the nine-month fiscal period ended December 31, 2011
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Phase III of Grand Design 100
Phase III Growth Strategy

Aiming to Generate Cumulative Three-Year Sales of 
¥1.8 Trillion through Robust and Responsive Growth

We entered the Phase III three-year segment of our Grand Design 100 medium-term 
management plan in January 2012. Here is a summary of what we are seeking to 
accomplish in Phase III.

To Mark the Yokohama Centennial in 2017

Long-Term Financial Targets

Basic Policy

Grand Design 100 Vision and Basic Policy

A Plan to Carry Us to Our Corporate Centennial in 2017
Grand Design 100, launched in 2006, is a 12-year plan that culminates in our 
corporate centennial year, 2017. It comprises four three-year phases. Phase I 
ended in March 2009 and Phase II ended in December 2011 on account of the 
change in our fiscal accounting period. Phase III covers the three years to 2014. 
 Our vision in Grand Design 100 centers on evoking a distinctive global 
identity in building corporate value and in building a strong market presence. Our 
long-term financial goals in Grand Design 100 originally centered on achieving 
annual net sales of ¥1 trillion, annual operating income of ¥100 billion, and 
annual operating return on sales of 10%. 

Net sales

Operating 
income

Operating 
margin

Phase III 
total

 ¥1,800 B

¥150 B

8.3%

Operating return on assets

Interest-bearing debt

Asset turnover ratio (times)

Debt/equity ratio (times)

More than 9%
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¥575.0 B
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Phase I and II Results and Phase III Targets

Phase III Targets by Year Targets for Selected Financial Indicators in 2014
¥ billion, percent

•Changes in the business environment are likely to delay until 2019 or 2020 our 
attainment of our sales target of ¥1 trillion.

•We expect to attain on schedule our operating income target of ¥100 billion 
and to attain ahead of schedule our 10% target for operating return on sales.
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The Positioning of Phase III in Grand Design 100

Secure a strong cash flow from operations 
and become more aggressive in capital spending

Technology strategy Strengthening our 
corporate foundation

Corporate social 
responsibility

Growth strategy: Tires Growth strategy:
Diversified products

Fortify our operations to generate a strong cash flow, and invest heavily in 
expanding production capacity, especially in tires

Expand our supply capacity to keep 
up with demand in fast-growing 
economies

Pursue operating return on sales of 
10% by strengthening our cost 
competitiveness and our branding

We will rely on our fortified business foundation to 
generate funds for capital spending. And we will 
invest in expanding our production capacity greatly, 
especially in tires. Expanding our supply capacity will 
position us to serve the growth in demand in growth 
markets, and that will generate liquidity to fund 
further investment. We will pursue our 10% goal for 
operating return on sales, meanwhile, by 
strengthening our cost competitiveness and by 
bolstering our brand appeal. 
 This basic approach will shape our growth 
strategy in tires and in diversified products. It will 
also shape our technology strategy and our measures 
for reinforcing our corporate foundation and for fulfilling 
our corporate social responsibility. Let’s take a look 
at our approach in regard to each of those focuses.

Asserting a Distinctive Presence in the Global Marketplace
We will bolster our competitiveness in Japan, where 
demand is trending downward, by strengthening our 
capabilities in technology and in product development. In 
overseas markets, we will expand our supply capacity to 
serve growing demand in emerging economies and elsewhere, 
and we will focus on achieving profitable growth. 
 Our product strategy will support our global emphases. 
In consumer tires, we will strive to develop and deploy 

products that are the best in their class in fuel economy 
and that feature superior functionality. In commercial tires, 
we will assert original technological strengths and will put 
in place a service framework to provide lifetime support. 
 We will work in several ways to raise efficiency in 
production and in marketing. Our measures will include 
integrating operations locally in principal markets in 
support of serving local demand with locally manufactured 
products. They will also include establishing local R&D 
capabilities in principal markets and working systematically 
to improve our global supply chain management.
 
Expanding Supply Capacity Greatly
Our plans call for expanding our annual production 
capacity by about 7 million tires during the three years of 
Phase III. The planned expansion will center on Russia, 
China, the Philippines, and Thailand. It will increase our 
global production capacity to 66 million tires a year by the 
end of 2014, from 59 million at the end of 2011. 
 In addition, we plan to increase our annual production 
capacity by 20 million tires in Phase IV. And we are 
allocating ¥140.0 billion to capital spending for that 
purpose in Phase III. The 20-million-tire increase in Phase IV 
would bring our production capacity to 86 million tires a 
year by the end of 2017.

Basic Approach in Phase III

Growth Strategy: Tires

2011 2014 2017

59 66

Phase Ⅱ

Sites in China, India, the United States, and Latin America

Annual production capacity
 (Million tires)

Phase Ⅲ Phase Ⅳ

38% 45%

86
58% Overseas 

share

New tire plant candidates 

Philippine, Thai, Vietnamese, and Russian plantsPlant-expansion candidates

Increasing the Pace of Growth in Production Capacity in Phase IV

+7 million

+20 million
•Deliver the best products at competitive prices and on time
•Assert world-class strengths in technologies for protecting 
  the environment
•Foster a customer-oriented corporate culture that honors rigorous 

standards of corporate ethics

Net sales Operating income Operating return on sales

¥1 trillion ¥100 billion 10%

Evoke a distinctive global identity in building corporate value and 
in building a strong market presence

Phase I Results
(April 1, 2006–March 31, 2009)

Phase II Results
(April 1, 2009–December 31, 2011)

Phase III Targets
(January 1, 2012–December 31, 2014)

Cumulative net sales

Cumulative operating income

Operating margin

¥1,566.0 billion

¥67.0 billion

4.3%

Cumulative net sales

Cumulative operating income

Operating margin

¥1,451.2 billion

¥77.2 billion

5.3%

Cumulative net sales

Cumulative operating income

Operating margin

¥1,800 billion

¥150 billion

8.3%
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Phase III of Grand Design 100
Phase III Growth Strategy
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Asserting a Distinctive Presence in the Global Marketplace
We will bolster our competitiveness in Japan, where 
demand is trending downward, by strengthening our 
capabilities in technology and in product development. In 
overseas markets, we will expand our supply capacity to 
serve growing demand in emerging economies and elsewhere, 
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we will assert original technological strengths and will put 
in place a service framework to provide lifetime support. 
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Safeguarding the Earth, Society, and Individuals
We will continue to contribute to protecting the global 
environment through advances in reducing rolling 
resistance and in reducing tire weight. And we will make 
new contributions toward safeguarding society and 
individuals through technological advances in accordance 
with the BluEarth concept. 
 In regard to noise, we will tackle advances in reducing 
pass-by noise outside the vehicle and road noise inside the 
vehicle. We will also tackle aerodynamic advances in reducing 
air drag. And we will adopt our Advanced Inner Liner, 
which minimizes air seepage and reduces maintenance 
stress for vehicle owners, in a broadening range of tires. 
 We will also work with partners in developing and 
deploying technologies for conserving energy and for 
reducing adverse environmental impact. For example, we 
will develop natural rubber in cooperation with Songkla 
University, in Thailand. We have a plant in Thailand that 
processes natural rubber, and we will work through our 
cooperation with the university to identify ways of contributing 
to environmental quality and to community vitality.
 
Refining High-Functionality Tire Technologies
Our work on advanced tire technologies for ensuring safer 
and more enjoyable driving will benefit from cooperation 
with third-party research organizations. For example, we 
will undertake joint research with scientists at Japan’s 
SPring-8 synchrotron radiation facility. And we will tap the 
resources of the K Computer supercomputing project, 
which operates the world’s fastest supercomputer.

Delivering the Best Products at Competitive Prices and 
On Time
Technology strategy at Yokohama addresses our 
commitment to delivering the best products at competitive 
prices and on time. We are strengthening our product 
planning and development functions and are undertaking 
rigorous cost cutting with an eye to providing customers 
with products of maximal value. Our efforts include 
bolstering our capabilities in creating basic technologies, in 
converting those technologies into products, and in moving 
products into mass production. 
 In a related measure, we opened an R&D center in 
China in January 2012 to conduct materials testing and 
evaluation. That is part of our ongoing efforts to shorten 
lead times in adopting locally purchased materials at 
overseas operations.

Deploying High-Value-Added Products Globally
Raising the global profile of the Yokohama name will be a 
core emphasis in branding. Under that name, we will work 
in consumer tires to increase the global momentum for 
several focused brands: our ADVAN flagship brand for 
high-performance products, our BluEarth brand for 
fuel-saving tires, our iceGUARD brand for winter tires, and 
our GEOLANDAR brand for sport-utility vehicle tires. We 
will continue working, meanwhile, to raise our market 
profile by winning factory fitments on globally prominent 
vehicle models.
 In commercial tires, we will promote large tires for 
off-the-road equipment in nations that are large producers 
of mineral ores. We will devote special effort to promoting 
radial tires in sizes of 49 inches and larger, and we will 
support that effort by expanding our supply capacity for 
those tires. We will broaden our offerings in 
high-functionality tires for trucks and buses, such as 
ultralow-profile tires based on original technologies, and 
we will expand our market presence in retreaded tires for 
trucks and buses and for light trucks.

Technology Strategy

Asserting Market Leadership in Products Based on Three 
Core Technologies
We will strive in Phase III to assert leadership in products 
based on three core technologies: carrying, affixing, and 
buffering. That will include working to reinforce our 
market momentum in product sectors where we have a 
well-established presence and striving to build strong 
market positions in other products based on those core 
technologies. Our efforts will also include realigning our 
manufacturing operations in Japan and continuing to 
expand our manufacturing overseas.

Cultivating Business Opportunities
We will work to generate business opportunities by 
applying and combining telecommunications and 
measurement technologies innovatively. That will include 
deploying new value-added in marine products, such as 
maneuvering-support systems for ships, marine hoses, and 
marine fenders. It will also include cultivating new 
possibilities in sporting goods and in related services. 

Growth Strategy: Diversified Products

In 2006, we inaugurated our Mudadori activities as a 
program for tapping employee initiative in identifying and 
acting on cost-cutting opportunities. Those activities have 
yielded cumulative cost savings of ¥51.5 billion. In Phase III 

of Grand Design 100, we will augment the Mudadori 
activities with projects for tackling themes designated by 
management.

Reinforcing Our Corporate Foundation

Our Social Responsibility Management Vision calls for 
building a trusted identity as a contributing member of the 
global community. We are tackling seven priority themes in 
accordance with the International Organization for 
Standardization’s ISO 26000 guidelines for social 
responsibility. 
 New initiatives include measures in environmental 
protection for helping to preserve biological diversity. Our 

measures in stakeholder communication include a possible 
extension of the Yokohama Forever Forest project. That 
project provides for planting 500,000 trees at our 
operations worldwide. And we are considering a project 
for developing lifesaving sylvan breakwaters in areas 
affected by the March 2011 tsunami. We continue to 
dispatch employee volunteers to assist with the relief and 
recovery efforts in those areas. 

Fulfilling Our Corporate Social Responsibility

Sport-utility vehicle tiresWinter tires

High-performance
flagship brand

Environmentally
oriented tires

Distinctive Brands under the Yokohama Name

Affixing Buffering

Solid loads
 Fluid loads
 (liquid and gaseous)

Conveyor belts Water tanks Construction 
sealants

Hard coatings Window
sealants

Rubber 
bearings

Marine fenders Wheelchair
cushions

High-pressure 
hoses

Carrying

Our Three Core Technologies in Diversified Products

A computer-graphics rendering of the 
molecular structure of our nano Blend 
Compound, which helps improve fuel 
economy, reduce tread wear, and 
improve wet-surface grip

Computer-simulation technology for 
identifying ways to improve tires’ 
aerodynamics



98

Safeguarding the Earth, Society, and Individuals
We will continue to contribute to protecting the global 
environment through advances in reducing rolling 
resistance and in reducing tire weight. And we will make 
new contributions toward safeguarding society and 
individuals through technological advances in accordance 
with the BluEarth concept. 
 In regard to noise, we will tackle advances in reducing 
pass-by noise outside the vehicle and road noise inside the 
vehicle. We will also tackle aerodynamic advances in reducing 
air drag. And we will adopt our Advanced Inner Liner, 
which minimizes air seepage and reduces maintenance 
stress for vehicle owners, in a broadening range of tires. 
 We will also work with partners in developing and 
deploying technologies for conserving energy and for 
reducing adverse environmental impact. For example, we 
will develop natural rubber in cooperation with Songkla 
University, in Thailand. We have a plant in Thailand that 
processes natural rubber, and we will work through our 
cooperation with the university to identify ways of contributing 
to environmental quality and to community vitality.
 
Refining High-Functionality Tire Technologies
Our work on advanced tire technologies for ensuring safer 
and more enjoyable driving will benefit from cooperation 
with third-party research organizations. For example, we 
will undertake joint research with scientists at Japan’s 
SPring-8 synchrotron radiation facility. And we will tap the 
resources of the K Computer supercomputing project, 
which operates the world’s fastest supercomputer.

Delivering the Best Products at Competitive Prices and 
On Time
Technology strategy at Yokohama addresses our 
commitment to delivering the best products at competitive 
prices and on time. We are strengthening our product 
planning and development functions and are undertaking 
rigorous cost cutting with an eye to providing customers 
with products of maximal value. Our efforts include 
bolstering our capabilities in creating basic technologies, in 
converting those technologies into products, and in moving 
products into mass production. 
 In a related measure, we opened an R&D center in 
China in January 2012 to conduct materials testing and 
evaluation. That is part of our ongoing efforts to shorten 
lead times in adopting locally purchased materials at 
overseas operations.

Deploying High-Value-Added Products Globally
Raising the global profile of the Yokohama name will be a 
core emphasis in branding. Under that name, we will work 
in consumer tires to increase the global momentum for 
several focused brands: our ADVAN flagship brand for 
high-performance products, our BluEarth brand for 
fuel-saving tires, our iceGUARD brand for winter tires, and 
our GEOLANDAR brand for sport-utility vehicle tires. We 
will continue working, meanwhile, to raise our market 
profile by winning factory fitments on globally prominent 
vehicle models.
 In commercial tires, we will promote large tires for 
off-the-road equipment in nations that are large producers 
of mineral ores. We will devote special effort to promoting 
radial tires in sizes of 49 inches and larger, and we will 
support that effort by expanding our supply capacity for 
those tires. We will broaden our offerings in 
high-functionality tires for trucks and buses, such as 
ultralow-profile tires based on original technologies, and 
we will expand our market presence in retreaded tires for 
trucks and buses and for light trucks.

Technology Strategy

Asserting Market Leadership in Products Based on Three 
Core Technologies
We will strive in Phase III to assert leadership in products 
based on three core technologies: carrying, affixing, and 
buffering. That will include working to reinforce our 
market momentum in product sectors where we have a 
well-established presence and striving to build strong 
market positions in other products based on those core 
technologies. Our efforts will also include realigning our 
manufacturing operations in Japan and continuing to 
expand our manufacturing overseas.

Cultivating Business Opportunities
We will work to generate business opportunities by 
applying and combining telecommunications and 
measurement technologies innovatively. That will include 
deploying new value-added in marine products, such as 
maneuvering-support systems for ships, marine hoses, and 
marine fenders. It will also include cultivating new 
possibilities in sporting goods and in related services. 

Growth Strategy: Diversified Products

In 2006, we inaugurated our Mudadori activities as a 
program for tapping employee initiative in identifying and 
acting on cost-cutting opportunities. Those activities have 
yielded cumulative cost savings of ¥51.5 billion. In Phase III 

of Grand Design 100, we will augment the Mudadori 
activities with projects for tackling themes designated by 
management.

Reinforcing Our Corporate Foundation

Our Social Responsibility Management Vision calls for 
building a trusted identity as a contributing member of the 
global community. We are tackling seven priority themes in 
accordance with the International Organization for 
Standardization’s ISO 26000 guidelines for social 
responsibility. 
 New initiatives include measures in environmental 
protection for helping to preserve biological diversity. Our 

measures in stakeholder communication include a possible 
extension of the Yokohama Forever Forest project. That 
project provides for planting 500,000 trees at our 
operations worldwide. And we are considering a project 
for developing lifesaving sylvan breakwaters in areas 
affected by the March 2011 tsunami. We continue to 
dispatch employee volunteers to assist with the relief and 
recovery efforts in those areas. 

Fulfilling Our Corporate Social Responsibility

Sport-utility vehicle tiresWinter tires

High-performance
flagship brand

Environmentally
oriented tires

Distinctive Brands under the Yokohama Name

Affixing Buffering

Solid loads
 Fluid loads
 (liquid and gaseous)

Conveyor belts Water tanks Construction 
sealants

Hard coatings Window
sealants

Rubber 
bearings

Marine fenders Wheelchair
cushions

High-pressure 
hoses

Carrying

Our Three Core Technologies in Diversified Products

A computer-graphics rendering of the 
molecular structure of our nano Blend 
Compound, which helps improve fuel 
economy, reduce tread wear, and 
improve wet-surface grip

Computer-simulation technology for 
identifying ways to improve tires’ 
aerodynamics



1110

Rainy-Day Peace of Mind
Yokohama pioneered the realm of fuel-saving tires in 1998 

with the DNA brand. Our company since has deployed a 

series of advances in environmentally sensitive tire 

products. Fuel economy has become an important concern 

in the marketplace. And the BluEarth-A addresses that 

concern in a manner true to the Yokohama tradition of 

delivering peak performance. 

 We have devoted special attention in the BluEarth-A 

to delivering wet-surface handling that will provide drivers 

with peace of mind. Employing two kinds of silica with our 

nano Blend Compound had enabled us to improve fuel 

economy while also improving wet grip. We have improved 

grip further still by incorporating orange oil in the tread 

compound. Meanwhile, a newly developed tread pattern 

secures optimal stiffness and disperses water effectively. 

 Our advances in the BluEarth-A provide a 20% 

improvement in wet-surface braking performance and an 

11% improvement in wet-surface handling stability over 

our conventional DNA Earth-1 tires. The BluEarth-A is also 

7% better in dry-surface handling stability and 2% better 

in dry-surface braking performance.

Multifaceted Excellence
Our BluEarth-A is a multifaceted solution for customer 

expectations. It combines fuel savings and superior 

handling with a comfortable, quiet ride and long life. The 

tire also minimizes external noise. 

 The BluEarth-A is a crystallization of leading-edge 

BluEarth technologies, a sweeping optimization of tread 

pattern and tire profile and construction. We are positioning 

the BluEarth-A as a core BluEarth product, well suited to a 

model range from large sedans to compacts and a good fit 

with hybrid vehicles. The BluEarth-A is available in 38 sizes, 

and we will broaden its size range further.

BluEarth Globally
Our BluEarth line of fuel-saving tires accommodates a 

global trend. Japan’s tire industry adopted labeling 

guidelines in 2010 to help customers grasp tires’ 

characteristics in regard to fuel economy and wet grip. 

Similar guidelines have taken effect in Europe and in the 

Republic of Korea in 2012 and are under study in the 

United States. 

 The BluEarth-1, our flagship fuel-saving tire, ranks at 

the top of Japan’s labeling standards for fuel economy. It 

debuted in March 2011 in Japan and later in Europe and in 

China, and we are preparing to launch it in other Asian 

nations and in North America. We have launched a 

mass-market BluEarth tire in Japan and Europe as the 

BluEarth AE-01, and we will launch that product in 2012 in 

China. The BluEarth-A, too, is a candidate for overseas 

launches, as we deploy the BluEarth brand globally. 

BluEarth-A

Computer rendering of the molecular structure of nano Blend Compound

Fuel economy

Dry-surface 
handling

Dry-surface 
braking

Wet-surface 
braking

Wet-surface handling

Pattern noise

External 
noise

Mass

DNA Earth-1
BluEarth-A

Compelling Performance in a Fuel-Saving Tire

�e Birth of the BluEarth-A

We have evoked a commitment in our BluEarth family of  fuel-saving tires to 

preserving environmental quality and to harmonizing motor transport with 

individual expectations and community sensitivities. �e latest product to 

emerge from the BluEarth concept is the BluEarth-A, which debuted in Japan 

in February 2012. Our BluEarth-A represents a new level of attainment in 

reconciling fuel savings with vehicular performance. 
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individual expectations and community sensitivities. �e latest product to 

emerge from the BluEarth concept is the BluEarth-A, which debuted in Japan 

in February 2012. Our BluEarth-A represents a new level of attainment in 

reconciling fuel savings with vehicular performance. 
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Review of Operations

Tires
Yokohama’s sales in tires totaled 
¥379.2 billion in the nine-month 
�scal period ended December 31, 
2011, and operating income in this 
segment totaled ¥23.4 billion. In 
Japan, business was vigorous in 
replacement tires, though the Great 
East Japan Earthquake caused 
prolonged interruptions in vehicle 
production and therefore 
undermined demand for 
original-equipment tires. In overseas 
markets, Yokohama posted strong 
sales in replacement tires in North 
America, Europe, the Middle East, 
and Asian nations.

As noted elsewhere in this report, Yokohama has shifted 

to a calendar-year fiscal accounting, from an April-to-March 

fiscal accounting. That resulted in a one-time-only 

nine-month fiscal period ended December 31, 2011. 

Year-on-year comparisons of operating results are 

therefore impossible, and this report dispenses with any 

such comparisons.

J A P A N
Strength in Consumer Tires Highlighted by BluEarth 

Product Launches

Japanese replacement demand for passenger car tires 

was strong in the nine-month fiscal period. A pattern of 

deferred purchasing that had persisted since the Lehman 

Shock of September 2008 gave way to resurgent 

demand, the postquake reconstruction effort spawned 

wide-ranging demand, and heavy snowfall generated 

demand for studless winter tires. 

 Yokohama fortified its product lines in consumer 

and commercial tires during the fiscal period with 

high-value-added products, and the Company absorbed 

cost increases by raising prices. Successful launches in 

passenger car tires included the BluEarth AE-01, a 

middle-market fuel-saving tire; the iceGUARD TRIPLE 

PLUS, a studless winter tire for passenger cars; the 

BluEarth-1, the top-of-the-line entry in the BluEarth 

family; and the BluEarth RV-01, for sport-utility vehicles. 

Strong sales in replacement tires more than offset 

postquake sluggishness in original-equipment demand in 

passenger car tires. In truck and bus tires, the Company 

bolstered its flagship ZEN brand with successful launches 

of the fuel-saving ZEN 702ZE, ZEN 902ZE, and ZEN 

102ZE tires. It also augmented the ZEN lineup with the 

ZEN 903ZW studless winter tire. 

 In 2012, Japanese demand for consumer tires 

appears likely to slacken. That projection is on account of 

the absence of the special factors that boosted demand 

in the past fiscal period. Yokohama will be maximizing its 

momentum in passenger car tires by promoting the 

BluEarth line and other high-value-added products. It 

launched the middle-market BluEarth-A and the 

fuel-saving sport-utility tire GEOLANDAR SUV in 

February.  

 Japanese demand for truck and bus tires continues 

in 2012 to benefit from the postquake rebuilding. 

Yokohama will be serving that demand by expanding its 

ZEN product series and by upgrading its life-cycle 

support, from new tires to retreads.

N O R T H  A M E R I C A
Strong Momentum in High-Performance Products

Tire demand in North America weakened as the 

European debt crisis and political instability in 

oil-producing nations sparked concerns about a possible 

global economic slowdown. Yokohama posted a strong 

sales performance there in passenger car tires and in 

Yokohama’s BluEarth line of environmentally friendly tires
has grown to four models, with more to come.

ZEN 903ZW
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truck and bus tires despite the uncertain business 

environment. Leading Yokohama’s North American sales 

in passenger car tires were the Company’s global flagship 

brand in high-performance tires, ADVAN, and another 

high-performance brand, AVID.

 Yokohama strengthened its popular AVID ENVigor 

line of all-season tires during the fiscal period with a 

run-flat offering. The Company reinforced its position in 

environmentally friendly tires, as well as in 

high-performance tires. It continued to supply 

low-rolling-resistance tires to the US manufacturer of 

electric vehicles, Tesla Motors, Inc. 

 Progress in expanding Yokohama’s North American 

sales network reinforced the Company’s sales momentum. 

The number of retail outlets that handle Yokohama tires 

increased by about 200 during the fiscal period, to some 

1,900. In addition, Yokohama secured market acceptance 

for price increases across its product line. 

 Global economic concerns continue to cloud the 

outlook for North American tire demand in 2012. 

Yokohama is moving to buttress its market momentum, 

nonetheless, by focusing on high-performance tires. The 

Company augmented its AVID line with the March 

launch of the AVID Ascend, and it is preparing to begin 

marketing its flagship offering in fuel-saving tires, the 

BluEarth-1, in North America. In truck and bus tires, 

Yokohama’s marketing includes new moves to reach out 

to potential customers.

A S I A
Vigor in Consumer and Commercial Tires

Yokohama made the most of strong demand in China 

and other Asian nations during the nine-month fiscal 

period. Positive market trends suggested that buying 

patterns have fully recovered from the slump that began 

with the Lehman Shock of September 2008. And 

Yokohama achieved solid sales in passenger car tires and 

in truck and bus tires.

 China is Yokohama’s biggest Asian tire market 

outside Japan, and the Company expanded production 

capacity during the fiscal period at its passenger car tire 

plant in Hangzhou. That bolstered Yokohama’s ability to 

serve growing local demand for its mass-market ASPEC 

brand and its ADVAN high-performance tires. Business in 

China also benefited from strong sales of studless winter 

tires. As in most other markets, Yokohama raised its tire 

prices in China.

 Yokohama continued to expand its Chinese sales 

network. The number of retail outlets that handle 

Yokohama tires increased about 300 during calendar 

2011, to some 1,500. The Company raised its market 

profile through participation in prominent racing events. 

It was the sole tire supplier at the Macau Grand Prix, for 

example, for the 29th consecutive year.

 The good sales performance for Yokohama in Asian 

nations included gratifying results in Taiwan, Malaysia, 

Singapore, and India and in the emerging markets of 

such nations as Indonesia, Vietnam, and Myanmar. 

Yokohama’s .drive series remained popular throughout 

the region, and the Company augmented its tire 

offerings in Asian markets with three new tires that feature 

improvements in environmentally friendly performance. 

Promotional events, including behind-the-wheel sessions, 

have been highly effective in launching new products 

and otherwise attracting positive attention. 

 Demand in Asian markets outside Japan could 

soften in 2012 on account of the European debt crisis 

and China’s financial retrenchment. Yokohama is 

appealing to Chinese customers in this Olympic year as 

an official supporter of China’s national track-and-field 

team. It has fortified its product line in China with its 

flagship product in environmentally friendly tires, the 

BluEarth-1, and will launch the mass-market BluEarth 

AE-01 there in 2012. Environmentally friendly tires are an 

important part of Yokohama marketing in other Asian 

nations, too. Yokohama has introduced in several 

nations, for example, a tire for sport-utility vehicles that 

features improved fuel economy, the GEOLANDAR SUV.

E U R O P E
Encouraging Sales Performance Centered on Russia

Demand for consumer tires in Europe firmed slightly 

during the nine-month fiscal period despite the debt 

crisis and the resultant economic slowdown, but demand 

for commercial tires weakened. Yokohama’s sales results 

mirrored those trends. The Company registered strong 

sales in passenger car tires, led by gains in Russia, and 

posted weak sales in truck and bus tires. 

 Yokohama improved its product mix in Europe by 

focusing on high-value-added products where it asserts a 

distinctive competitive edge. That included promoting  
Supporting China’s national track-and-field team is raising 
Yokohama’s profile in that nation. 

Yokohama is the sole supplier of tires in China Touring Car Championship racing.

The battery-powered Tesla Roadster sports Yokohama tires as factory equipment.

AVID Ascend
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products under Yokohama’s global flagship brand for 

high-performance tires, ADVAN, and the GEOLANDAR 

line of tires for sport-utility vehicles. As in most other 

markets, Yokohama raised prices for its tires in Europe. 

 New labeling regulations in Europe require tire 

manufacturers to indicate fuel consumption, wet grip, 

and noise on all tires sold there, starting in 2012. With 

an eye to the labeling regulations, Yokohama launched 

its flagship fuel-saving tire, the BluEarth-1, in Europe in 

2011 and promoted the tire vigorously. 

 Yokohama strengthened its European marketing by 

further consolidating distribution at a warehouse in 

Germany operated by its subsidiary Yokohama Europe 

GmbH. That has raised efficiency and reduced inventories 

in distributing tires in Germany and in surrounding 

nations. It will serve as a distribution hub for a growing 

range of European nations. 

 European demand for consumer tires is softening in 

2012 as the debt crisis prompts consumers to defer 

purchases. The long-term outlook, however, is for 

gradual growth in demand. Competition will escalate as 

tire manufacturers increase production at European 

plants. Yokohama will seek to assert competitiveness by 

promoting distinctive products, especially in fuel-saving 

tires. The BluEarth-1 has earned high regard in the 

fuel-economy category, and Yokohama launched a 

mass-market BluEarth tire, the BluEarth AE-01, and a 

fuel-saving sport-utility tire, the GEOLANDAR SUV, in 

Europe in March 2012. 

Consolidating European tire distribution increasingly at this German warehouse 
is streamlining Yokohama’s logistics.

Yokohama is a leading tire importer in Russia, and 

our sales there reached 3 million tires in calendar 

2011. Especially popular with Russian customers are 

our GEOLANDAR tires, for sport-utility vehicles, and 

our iceGUARD winter tires. 

 We had recruited more than 500 retailers for 

our Yokohama Club Network by 2011 year-end. 

Those retailers meet specified sales targets for 

Yokohama tires. They are mainly in Russia’s largest 

cities, but we are recruiting a growing number of 

retailers for the network in smaller cities. 

 We began producing passenger car tires in 

December 2011 at a plant south of Moscow in the 

Lipetsk special economic zone. Yokohama thus 

became the first Japanese tire manufacturer to 

produce passenger car tires in Russia. The plant’s 

initial production capacity is 700,000 tires a year, 

and planned expansion will increase that to 1.6 

million tires a year by the end of 2014. Local 

production emphasizes our commitment to the 

Russian market and lays a foundation for sustainable 

growth there.

Yokohama’s Russian tire plantJunichi Okishima 
President
Yokohama Russia L.L.C.

�ree Million a Year!

M I D D L E  E A S T
Robust Sales across the Board

Tire demand increased in Saudi Arabia and in other 

oil-producing nations of the Middle East amid economic 

growth fueled by rising oil prices. Demand was weak in 

Syria and Yemen on account of civil strife and in Iran on 

account of international sanctions. Yokohama posted 

strong sales in its largest market in the region, Saudi 

Arabia, in truck and bus tires and in tires for passenger 

cars, for vans, and for light trucks. 

 An important product introduction during the fiscal 

period was the A.drive in late 2011. Events held in 

several nations to promote the new product to dealers 

set the stage for strong sales in 2012. The Middle East 

was another region where Yokohama raised prices across 

its product line. 

 Economic growth appears likely to continue in the 

Middle East in 2012, albeit at a slower rate than in 2011. 

Yokohama is promoting the A.drive as a mainstream 

mass-market product and will bolster its presence in 

high-value-added tires with the ADVAN dB. The Company 

is working to improve its product mix in tires for passenger 

cars, for vans, and for light trucks. And it is working to 

position its Middle Eastern business in truck and bus tires 

as a steady source of robust sales and earnings. 

O C E A N I A
Business Good in Off-the-Road Tires

Demand was strong in Oceania, supported by vigorous 

activity in natural resources development in Australia and 

elsewhere. Yokohama’s sales in the region suffered, 

however, as Australia’s strong currency attracted an 

influx of competitors in the tire market. That influx 

included manufacturers in emerging economies, which 

amplified the downward pressure on prices. 

 Strong sales of tires for construction equipment 

were a bright spot for Yokohama in Australia. In 

passenger car tires, Yokohama launched the ADVAN dB 

and the C.drive2 and held behind-the-wheel sessions at 

several sites in the region to promote the new products. 

The Company also continued working to strengthen and 

expand its Tyres & More network of affiliated retailers. 

 Australia’s thriving economy could slow in 2012 as 

a result of the European debt crisis. Yokohama is striving 

to make the most of demand with strategic product 

launches. It will launch the fuel-saving GEOLANDAR SUV 

for the vibrant sport-utility segment of Australia’s 

automobile market. And it will launch three products in 

truck and bus tires, including two in its flagship ZEN 

product family. Yokohama is also reinforcing its marketing 

in truck and bus tires by putting in place a framework of 

comprehensive support, from new tires to retreads. A.drive

The Tyres & More network of Yokohama-affiliated retailers asserts 
extensive marketing reach in Australia.
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L A T I N  A M E R I C A
Stepped-Up Marketing in High-Value-Added Products

Brazil will host soccer’s World Cup in 2014, and the 

anticipation of that event is stimulating consumer 

spending there and in Argentina and other nations in the 

region. Yokohama also benefited in the nine-month 

fiscal period to December 2011 from vigorous activity in 

resources development and public works projects in Peru 

and Colombia. Competition escalated, however, as 

imports of Chinese and Korean tires increased and as tire 

manufacturers that have local plants increased 

production. Yokohama fortified its market presence by 

launching high-value-added products, including the 

ADVAN dB and C.drive2. It also raised prices in Latin 

America, as in most other regions. 

 Concerns are arising in 2012 that nations in Latin 

America might resort to protectionist measures and that 

the European debt crisis could affect the region 

adversely. Yokohama continues to promote the 

high-performance ADVAN dB and the fuel-saving 

C.drive2 vigorously. And it is preparing to launch the 

fuel-saving GEOLANDAR SUV tire for sport-utility 

vehicles in Latin America. 

A F R I C A
Gratifying Results in Consumer Tires

Tire demand surged in South Africa amid booming 

activity in resources development. Demand weakened 

somewhat in Egypt, however, on account of civil strife. 

The largest market for Yokohama in Africa is South 

Africa, and the Company improved its product mix and 

fortified its presence there by launching the ADVAN dB 

and the C.drive2. Yokohama stepped up its marketing, 

meanwhile, in other nations. It raised prices across its 

product line in Africa, as in most other regions.

 In 2012, tire demand in South Africa is poised for 

continued growth, and demand in Egypt appears likely to 

recover. Europe’s debt crisis is a threat, however, to 

economic vitality in Africa, as elsewhere. Yokohama is 

focusing on providing reliable supplies of tires in African 

nations where it has an established presence. It is also 

devoting careful attention to fostering a presence in 

other nations. 

C.drive2

Review of Operations

Industrial
In the nine-month �scal period 
ended December 31, 2011, 
Yokohama’s sales of high-pressure 
hoses, sealants and adhesives, 
conveyor belts, antiseismic products, 
marine hoses, marine fenders, and 
other industrial products totaled 
¥68.2 billion, and the operating 
income in this segment totaled ¥1.7 
billion. Demand for sealants and 
adhesives and for high-pressure hoses 
weakened in the automotive sector 
amid the operational disruptions 
caused by the Great East Japan 
Earthquake and the �ai �ooding. 
Business was solid, however, in 
high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, in conveyor belts, and in 
marine hoses. 

High-Pressure Hoses
Solid Business in Replacement Hoses for Construction 

Equipment

Sales of high-pressure hoses at Yokohama totaled ¥32.3 

billion in the nine-month fiscal period. Japanese demand 

was weak in the first several months of the fiscal period. 

Production slumped in the automotive and construction 

equipment sectors in the wake of the earthquake 

disaster. Demand picked up, however, in the latter part 

of the fiscal period. Overseas, Chinese demand in the 

construction equipment sector softened amid financial 

retrenchment. 

 Yokohama’s deliveries of high-pressure hoses to 

construction equipment plants in Japan and China were 

sluggish, but Japanese business was brisk in replacement 

hoses. The Company fortified its marketing by 

establishing distribution centers to handle peripheral 

components for replacement hoses and thereby 

strengthen the assembly function. 

 Earthquake-related interruptions in production at 

Japanese automakers undermined business in 

automotive hoses. Overseas, Yokohama posted strong 

sales in automotive hoses in the United States. 

 Japanese demand for high-pressure hoses is 

strengthening in 2012. Automakers are ramping up 

production, and manufacturers of construction 

equipment are racing to keep up with demand 

associated with postdisaster reconstruction. Sales remain 

lackluster, however, to Japanese construction equipment 

manufacturers in China, who are Yokohama’s main 

customers in that sector there. Those manufacturers face 

PRODUCTS

ADVAN dB
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L A T I N  A M E R I C A
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C.drive2

Review of Operations

Industrial
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marine hoses. 
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escalating competition from locally owned 

manufacturers in the Chinese market. 

 Yokohama is working to increase its market share 

in sales of original-equipment hoses to construction 

equipment manufacturers in Japan. And it is upgrading 

its Japanese sales network for replacement hoses by 

adapting its marketing more closely to regional 

circumstances. 

 In China, Yokohama is working to develop business 

with local manufacturers of construction equipment and 

to broaden its market presence in replacement hoses. 

The Company is building a plant in Hangzhou that will 

begin producing high-pressure hoses for construction 

equipment in January 2013. Yokohama continues to 

supply original-equipment hoses to the plants of 

Japanese construction equipment manufacturers in 

North America, Europe, and Asian nations besides Japan, 

and it is working to expand business in replacement 

hoses under the Exceed brand, developed especially for 

overseas markets. 

Sealants and Adhesives
Adverse Impact from the Japanese Earthquake and Thai 

Flooding

Yokohama’s sales of sealants and adhesives in the 

nine-month fiscal period totaled ¥17.7 billion. The Great 

East Japan Earthquake crimped supplies of construction 

materials and impeded work throughout the 

construction industry, which diminished demand for 

Yokohama’s construction sealants. It also impinged on 

Yokohama’s supply capacity by damaging the 

Company’s Ibaraki Plant and forcing a temporary 

suspension of operation there and by impeding access to 

raw materials. Escalating price competition in Japan was 

another issue in this product category. Demand slumped, 

too, in the automobile industry, where Japan’s 

earthquake and Thailand’s floods interrupted production. 

That undercut demand for Yokohama’s automotive 

sealants.

 In April 2011, Yokohama established a division to  

handle its growing business in electromaterials, including 

sealants for photovoltaic panels, sealants for 

light-emitting diodes, adhesives for speakers, and hard 

coatings for mobile information terminals. The new 

division will develop and market high-performance 

electromaterials based on Yokohama’s strengths in 

sealing and adhesive technologies. 

 Japan’s construction market presents firming 

demand in 2012 in new projects and in building repairs. 

Yokohama is working to expand its market share in 

construction sealants even while raising prices for those 

products. Production is recovering, meanwhile, in the 

automotive sector, and Yokohama is poised to achieve 

increased sales momentum in automotive sealants. The 

Company is also moving to increase its sales momentum 

in electromaterials, where it is strengthening its 

capabilities in targeted marketing and product 

development.

Industrial Materials
Demand for Marine Hoses Spawned by Booming 

Resources Development

Conveyor belts, marine hoses, marine fenders, antiseismic 

products, and highway joints are the principal products 

in the industrial materials category. And sales in this category 

totaled ¥18.2 billion in the nine-month fiscal period. 

 Business in conveyor belts was a contrast of 

strength in Japan and weakness overseas. Sales in Japan 

benefited from postdisaster reconstruction demand. 

Sales were robust to Yokohama’s principal Japanese 

customers for conveyor belts, steelmakers and mine 

operators, and to thermal power plants, which increased 

their output amid the prolonged closures of Japan’s 

nuclear power plants. Demand was vigorous in several 

nations that are large producers of natural resources, but 

Yokohama’s overseas sales were weak because of poor 

sales in Australia, the Company’s largest overseas market 

for conveyor belts. 

 Demand for marine hoses and marine fenders was 

strong worldwide. That performance benefited from 

strong demand associated with steady flows of crude oil. 

Yokohama recorded especially strong sales in marine 

hoses in Asian and Middle Eastern markets. Sales were 

weak in marine fenders, however, reflecting the 

completion of some large supply contracts. Yokohama 

fortified its business in marine products by securing 

market acceptance for price increases. 

 Business was weak in antiseismic steel-and-rubber 

bearings. That reflected the completion of some large 

projects in the previous fiscal year. It also reflected 

escalating price competition. 

 In 2012, Japanese demand for conveyor belts 

appears to be holding steady, and overseas demand 

remains vibrant in natural resource producing nations. 

Yokohama is stepping up its marketing approach to 

users where its share of purchasing is small, and it is 

revamping its distribution and warehouse network. The 

Company is also stepping up its marketing in Australia, in 

Asian nations besides Japan, and in North America. 

 Global demand remains strong for marine hoses 

and marine fenders on account of the steady flows of 

crude oil. Yokohama is working to win a healthy share of 

business in supplying replacement marine hoses in Asian 

nations besides Japan, the Middle East, Africa, and other 

markets. The Company is testing a newly developed 

remote-monitoring system for monitoring the positioning 

of marine fenders and ship hulls. Yokohama is preparing 

to begin marketing the system and is configuring it to 

assert an edge in quality over competing products. 

 In antiseismic products, demand in new projects is 

trending downward, but replacement demand is strong 

amid postquake reconstruction, and Yokohama is 

moving to secure a large share of that demand. 

Yokohama’s VS-1, introduced as an antiseismic bearing 

for bridges in 2011, offers high performance and good 

safety assurance, and it promises to help the Company 

expand its presence in replacement bearings.

High-pressure hoses supplied by Yokohama render service 
on construction equipment worldwide. 

Yokohama’s growing line of electromaterials includes hard coatings 
used in mobile phones and other electronic products.
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Review of Operations

Other
Yokohama’s sales in aircra� �xtures 
and components and in golf 
equipment and other products 
totaled ¥17.7 billion in the 
nine-month �scal period ended 
December 31, 2011, and operating 
income in this segment totaled ¥1.2 
billion. Business was strong in 
aircra� �xtures and components, led 
by replacement lavatory modules for 
Boeing Company, but business was 
weak in golf equipment in the wake 
of the Great East Japan Earthquake.

Aircra� Fixtures and Components
Strong Sales in Lavatory Modules

Business in aircraft fixtures and components totaled 

¥11.8 billion in the nine-month fiscal period. Demand for 

replacement fixtures and components for aircraft firmed 

as commercial airlines’ earnings improved. Lavatory 

modules for the Boeing 737 are Yokohama’s main 

product offerings in aircraft fixtures, and the Company’s 

sales were robust in units for new B737s, as well as in 

replacement units. Sales were also brisk in onboard 

staircases for the Boeing 747-8I, which Yokohama began 

supplying in 2010. 

 In 2012, Yokohama projects continued vigor in 

sales of lavatory modules for the B737. The Company 

continues to develop new products, meanwhile, to 

broaden its presence in this sector.

Golf Equipment, Other
Demand for Golf Equipment Weak in Wake of Earthquake

Yokohama’s sales total of ¥5.9 billion in golf equipment 

and other products in the nine-month fiscal period 

reflected the adverse effects of the Great East Japan 

Earthquake. Customer traffic on Japan’s golf courses 

declined sharply in the wake of the disaster. Sales of iD 

series products were weak. Launched in 2010, the iD 

series is Yokohama’s core product family in golf 

equipment. The newly introduced egg series, however, 

generated strong sales, especially the distance-oriented 

egg drivers. And business was also good in the Republic 

of Korea, Yokohama’s principal overseas market for golf 

equipment. 

 Japan’s market for golf equipment remains 

challenging in 2012. Yokohama is moving to cultivate 

demand in Japan with launches of middle-market 

products. The Company has broadened its overseas 

marketing, meanwhile, to China, as well as the Republic 

of Korea, Taiwan, and Southeast Asian nations. And it 

will launch three products in 2012 developed especially 

for overseas markets.

Staircases supplied by Yokohama appear in Boeing’s 747-8I airliners. 

PRODUCTS

Yokohama has supplemented its business in golf 

equipment with original systems for analyzing golf 

swings and for measuring shot trajectory. Its 

swing-diagnosis product is available in two versions: 

Science Fit, a fully configured diagnostic system for 

even professional golfers to use, and Quick Science 

Fit, a simpler configuration. Golf schools and golf 

equipment shops throughout Japan have adopted 

the Science Fit products. In December 2011, 

Yokohama introduced its REDEYES COMPACT II 

compact measurement system for simulating golf 

shot trajectories. 

 Underlying Yokohama’s products for 

analyzing swings and simulating shot trajectories are 

advanced telecommunications and measurement 

technologies. The technological sophistication of the 

products supports highly accurate results, which are 

garnering high regard among golfers. And 

Yokohama is moving to adapt the technologies to 

products in other sectors.

Innovative Golf Products Based on Telecommunications 
and Measurement Technologies

Yokohama’s company-owned PRGR Tokyo-Hub golf school and studio, opened 
in March 2012, features the Company’s Science Fit swing-diagnostics system.

The Premium Gold clubs, developed especially for Asian markets outside Japan, 
are strengthening Yokohama’s international reach in golf equipment.



22 23

Review of Operations

Other
Yokohama’s sales in aircra� �xtures 
and components and in golf 
equipment and other products 
totaled ¥17.7 billion in the 
nine-month �scal period ended 
December 31, 2011, and operating 
income in this segment totaled ¥1.2 
billion. Business was strong in 
aircra� �xtures and components, led 
by replacement lavatory modules for 
Boeing Company, but business was 
weak in golf equipment in the wake 
of the Great East Japan Earthquake.

Aircra� Fixtures and Components
Strong Sales in Lavatory Modules

Business in aircraft fixtures and components totaled 

¥11.8 billion in the nine-month fiscal period. Demand for 

replacement fixtures and components for aircraft firmed 

as commercial airlines’ earnings improved. Lavatory 

modules for the Boeing 737 are Yokohama’s main 

product offerings in aircraft fixtures, and the Company’s 

sales were robust in units for new B737s, as well as in 

replacement units. Sales were also brisk in onboard 

staircases for the Boeing 747-8I, which Yokohama began 

supplying in 2010. 

 In 2012, Yokohama projects continued vigor in 

sales of lavatory modules for the B737. The Company 

continues to develop new products, meanwhile, to 

broaden its presence in this sector.

Golf Equipment, Other
Demand for Golf Equipment Weak in Wake of Earthquake

Yokohama’s sales total of ¥5.9 billion in golf equipment 

and other products in the nine-month fiscal period 

reflected the adverse effects of the Great East Japan 

Earthquake. Customer traffic on Japan’s golf courses 

declined sharply in the wake of the disaster. Sales of iD 

series products were weak. Launched in 2010, the iD 

series is Yokohama’s core product family in golf 

equipment. The newly introduced egg series, however, 

generated strong sales, especially the distance-oriented 

egg drivers. And business was also good in the Republic 

of Korea, Yokohama’s principal overseas market for golf 

equipment. 

 Japan’s market for golf equipment remains 

challenging in 2012. Yokohama is moving to cultivate 

demand in Japan with launches of middle-market 

products. The Company has broadened its overseas 

marketing, meanwhile, to China, as well as the Republic 

of Korea, Taiwan, and Southeast Asian nations. And it 

will launch three products in 2012 developed especially 

for overseas markets.

Staircases supplied by Yokohama appear in Boeing’s 747-8I airliners. 

PRODUCTS

Yokohama has supplemented its business in golf 

equipment with original systems for analyzing golf 

swings and for measuring shot trajectory. Its 

swing-diagnosis product is available in two versions: 

Science Fit, a fully configured diagnostic system for 

even professional golfers to use, and Quick Science 

Fit, a simpler configuration. Golf schools and golf 

equipment shops throughout Japan have adopted 

the Science Fit products. In December 2011, 

Yokohama introduced its REDEYES COMPACT II 

compact measurement system for simulating golf 

shot trajectories. 

 Underlying Yokohama’s products for 

analyzing swings and simulating shot trajectories are 

advanced telecommunications and measurement 

technologies. The technological sophistication of the 

products supports highly accurate results, which are 

garnering high regard among golfers. And 

Yokohama is moving to adapt the technologies to 

products in other sectors.

Innovative Golf Products Based on Telecommunications 
and Measurement Technologies

Yokohama’s company-owned PRGR Tokyo-Hub golf school and studio, opened 
in March 2012, features the Company’s Science Fit swing-diagnostics system.

The Premium Gold clubs, developed especially for Asian markets outside Japan, 
are strengthening Yokohama’s international reach in golf equipment.



24 25

Corporate Social Responsibility

Basic Approach

At Yokohama, fulfilling corporate social responsibility 

means earning the confidence of people in the 

community at large. The central dynamic is one of 

addressing stakeholder expectations in the course of 

maximizing corporate value.

Organization

Yokohama established an organizational infrastructure in 

2008 to shape the Company’s commitment to fulfilling 

social responsibility. It upgraded that infrastructure in 

January 2012, placing the chairman and CEO in charge 

of overall activity and placing the president in charge of 

measures focused on environmental quality. The teams 

for coordinating overall activity under the chairman and 

for coordinating environmentally focused activity under 

the president each will meet twice a year. They will hammer 

out policy and strategy for tackling their priorities and 

will monitor progress in achieving their aims. In addition, 

representatives of Yokohama’s overseas manufacturing 

operations meet annually to coordinate mutual measures 

for safeguarding the environment.

Seven Emphases Based on International Standards

The ISO 26000 guidelines are an international 

benchmark for fulfilling social responsibility. Yokohama is 

systematically tackling seven priority themes that it 

adopted in 2010 based on those guidelines: 

environmental protection, workplace safety, safety and 

quality in products and service, human rights and labor 

practices, supplier relations, stakeholder communication, 

and corporate governance and ethical compliance.

Extending the Yokohama Forever Forest 

Yokohama supports a forestation initiative by Iwate 

Prefecture’s disaster-ravaged  town of Otsuchi-cho. 

That town is creating sylvan breakwaters as part of 

the Forests That Protect Lives initiative proposed by 

Dr. Akira Miyawaki, a plant ecologist and professor 

emeritus at Yokohama National University. 

Dr. Miyawaki oversees the Yokohama Forever Forest 

project, which provides for planting 500,000 trees at 

Yokohama operations worldwide. His new proposal 

calls for creating a tsunami-resistant band of forest 

along 300 kilometers of Pacific coast. Its diverse 

support for the recovery effort includes foresting 

mounds built with rubble cleared from devastated 

communities. 

 Some 540 people, including 330 local citizens 

and more than 100 Yokohama volunteers and project 

staffers, kicked off the project with a planting 

ceremony on April 30, 2012. They planted some 

3,400 evergreen tree seedlings of native broadleaf 

species. Heading the Yokohama contingent were 

Chairman Tadanobu Nagumo and President 

Hikomitsu Noji.  Also on hand were Minister of the 

Environment Goshi Hosono, former prime minister 

Morihiro Hosokawa, Otsuchi mayor Yutaka Ikarigawa, 

and Dr. Miyawaki.

Dispatching Employee Volunteers to Assist 

with the Disaster-Recovery Effort

Yokohama continues to recruit employee volunteers 

to assist with the recovery effort in areas damaged by 

the March 2011 earthquake and tsunami. The 

assistance focuses on the community of Kesennuma 

Oshima, in Miyagi Prefecture. It has included 

dispatching a total of 60 employees in 10 weeklong 

sessions of clearing rubble, cleaning beaches, and 

doing related work in October and November 2011 

and February and March 2012. And the Company 

plans to dispatch volunteers for additional sessions.

Conducting Preliminary Biodiversity Surveys 

in Plant Vicinities

Yokohama is conducting biodiversity-impact surveys 

at 15 operations in Japan and 15 overseas. Those 

surveys will identify settings that offer the potential 

for undertaking effective measures for promoting 

biodiversity. Based on interim survey findings, the 

Company initiated a pilot project at its Mie Plant, in 

Japan, in April 2011. That project includes monitoring 

water life in a river near the plant and taking steps to 

protect a full range of native species. The project team 

at the Mie Plant had conducted three monitoring 

surveys by the end of 2011.

Addressing Biodiversity in the Yokohama 

Forever Forest Project

The Yokohama Forever Forest project is an initiative 

for planting about 500,000 trees at Yokohama 

operations worldwide by 2017. Some of the 

participating operations accompany the planting work 

with biodiversity surveys of wildfowl. 

Ful�lling corporate social responsibility is fundamental to management at Yokohama. �e Company 
works in all phases of its activity to contribute to social sustainability. 

CSR Management Vision 
To build a trusted identity as a contributing 
member of the global community

CSR Action Guidelines
Identify continually changing 
social trends
Spot ways of contributing
Act swiftly to earn firm trust 
Practice CSR in one’s own work

CSR and Environmental Promotion Framework 

Head Office and Sales Subsidiary CSR 
& Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Corporate Social 
Responsibility Division

Divisions by Business Segments

Divisions by Functional Segments

Tire Production Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Tire Global 
Production Division

MB Production Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Industrial Products 
Production Division

Manufacturing Subsidiary 
Environmental  Task Force
Chairperson: General Manager, 
CSR & Environmental Affairs Dept.

Global Environmental Council
Chairperson: General Manager, 
Corporate Social Responsibility Division

Chemical Material Committee
Chair: General Manager, R&D Center

Waste Tire 3Rs Committee
Chair: Managing Corporate Officer, President of
Yokohama Tire Japan Co., Ltd.

Global Warming 
Countermeasures Committee
Chair: General Manager, Tire Global Production Division

Environmentally Friendly 
Product Committee
Chair: General Manager, Tire Global Technical Division

YOKOHAMA Forever Forest Committee
Chair: General Manager, 
Corporate Social Responsibility Division
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  Topics

Supporting Biodiversity

Supporting Revitalization in Earthquake-Ravaged Areas

Employees of Yokohama’s Mie Plant conduct riverine biological survey work 
near the plant.

Local citizens and Yokohama employees take part in a planting ceremony 
in Otsuchi-cho on April 30, 2012.
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Seven Emphases Based on International Standards

The ISO 26000 guidelines are an international 

benchmark for fulfilling social responsibility. Yokohama is 

systematically tackling seven priority themes that it 

adopted in 2010 based on those guidelines: 

environmental protection, workplace safety, safety and 

quality in products and service, human rights and labor 

practices, supplier relations, stakeholder communication, 

and corporate governance and ethical compliance.

Extending the Yokohama Forever Forest 

Yokohama supports a forestation initiative by Iwate 

Prefecture’s disaster-ravaged  town of Otsuchi-cho. 

That town is creating sylvan breakwaters as part of 

the Forests That Protect Lives initiative proposed by 

Dr. Akira Miyawaki, a plant ecologist and professor 

emeritus at Yokohama National University. 

Dr. Miyawaki oversees the Yokohama Forever Forest 

project, which provides for planting 500,000 trees at 

Yokohama operations worldwide. His new proposal 

calls for creating a tsunami-resistant band of forest 

along 300 kilometers of Pacific coast. Its diverse 

support for the recovery effort includes foresting 

mounds built with rubble cleared from devastated 

communities. 

 Some 540 people, including 330 local citizens 

and more than 100 Yokohama volunteers and project 

staffers, kicked off the project with a planting 

ceremony on April 30, 2012. They planted some 

3,400 evergreen tree seedlings of native broadleaf 

species. Heading the Yokohama contingent were 

Chairman Tadanobu Nagumo and President 

Hikomitsu Noji.  Also on hand were Minister of the 

Environment Goshi Hosono, former prime minister 

Morihiro Hosokawa, Otsuchi mayor Yutaka Ikarigawa, 

and Dr. Miyawaki.

Dispatching Employee Volunteers to Assist 

with the Disaster-Recovery Effort

Yokohama continues to recruit employee volunteers 

to assist with the recovery effort in areas damaged by 

the March 2011 earthquake and tsunami. The 

assistance focuses on the community of Kesennuma 

Oshima, in Miyagi Prefecture. It has included 

dispatching a total of 60 employees in 10 weeklong 

sessions of clearing rubble, cleaning beaches, and 

doing related work in October and November 2011 

and February and March 2012. And the Company 

plans to dispatch volunteers for additional sessions.

Conducting Preliminary Biodiversity Surveys 

in Plant Vicinities

Yokohama is conducting biodiversity-impact surveys 

at 15 operations in Japan and 15 overseas. Those 

surveys will identify settings that offer the potential 

for undertaking effective measures for promoting 

biodiversity. Based on interim survey findings, the 

Company initiated a pilot project at its Mie Plant, in 

Japan, in April 2011. That project includes monitoring 

water life in a river near the plant and taking steps to 

protect a full range of native species. The project team 

at the Mie Plant had conducted three monitoring 

surveys by the end of 2011.

Addressing Biodiversity in the Yokohama 

Forever Forest Project

The Yokohama Forever Forest project is an initiative 

for planting about 500,000 trees at Yokohama 

operations worldwide by 2017. Some of the 

participating operations accompany the planting work 

with biodiversity surveys of wildfowl. 

Ful�lling corporate social responsibility is fundamental to management at Yokohama. �e Company 
works in all phases of its activity to contribute to social sustainability. 

CSR Management Vision 
To build a trusted identity as a contributing 
member of the global community

CSR Action Guidelines
Identify continually changing 
social trends
Spot ways of contributing
Act swiftly to earn firm trust 
Practice CSR in one’s own work

CSR and Environmental Promotion Framework 

Head Office and Sales Subsidiary CSR 
& Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Corporate Social 
Responsibility Division

Divisions by Business Segments

Divisions by Functional Segments

Tire Production Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Tire Global 
Production Division

MB Production Environmental Task Force
Head: General Manager, Industrial Products 
Production Division

Manufacturing Subsidiary 
Environmental  Task Force
Chairperson: General Manager, 
CSR & Environmental Affairs Dept.

Global Environmental Council
Chairperson: General Manager, 
Corporate Social Responsibility Division

Chemical Material Committee
Chair: General Manager, R&D Center

Waste Tire 3Rs Committee
Chair: Managing Corporate Officer, President of
Yokohama Tire Japan Co., Ltd.

Global Warming 
Countermeasures Committee
Chair: General Manager, Tire Global Production Division

Environmentally Friendly 
Product Committee
Chair: General Manager, Tire Global Technical Division

YOKOHAMA Forever Forest Committee
Chair: General Manager, 
Corporate Social Responsibility Division

C
SR

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

Ch
ai

rp
er

so
n:

 C
ha

ir
m

an
 a

nd
 C

EO

C
SR

 D
iv

is
io

n

R
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
ve

 D
ir

ec
to

r

C
SR

 &
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l A

ff
ai

rs
 D

ep
t.

En
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l C

o
u

n
ci

l
C

h
ai

rp
er

so
n

: P
re

si
d

en
t

  Topics

Supporting Biodiversity

Supporting Revitalization in Earthquake-Ravaged Areas

Employees of Yokohama’s Mie Plant conduct riverine biological survey work 
near the plant.

Local citizens and Yokohama employees take part in a planting ceremony 
in Otsuchi-cho on April 30, 2012.
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Corporate Governance

Framework

Our management framework differentiates clearly 

between operational responsibility, invested in the 

corporate officers, and oversight responsibility, invested 

in the Board of Directors. That helps maximize our 

responsiveness in management. Presently, the senior- 

management team comprises 8 directors, headed by the 

chairman and president and including 4 members who 

serve concurrently as corporate officers, and 14 

corporate officers, not including officers who serve 

concurrently as directors.

 The Executive Committee, which comprises the 

chairman and other selected members of the Board

of Directors and other executives, reviews overall 

operational policy and matters crucial to the performance 

of work. It reports its findings to the Board of Directors, 

and the directors discuss and act on the council’s 

recommendations in accordance with the pertinent 

corporate guidelines.

 Transparency and fairness are overriding emphases 

in appointing directors and corporate officers and in 

determining their compensation. Appointments and 

compensation receive thorough consideration in the 

Director Personnel and Remuneration Committee and 

then go to the Board of Directors for decisions.

Auditing

Auditing at Yokohama is a tripartite undertaking by our 

corporate auditors, an independent public accounting 

firm, and our Audit Department. We reinforce the 

auditing function by maintaining autonomy among those 

units.

 The corporate auditors number five, including three 

recruited from outside the Company to help ensure 

objectivity in the auditing function. They participate in 

meetings of the Executive Committee and at other 

management gatherings where important matters are 

discussed. They also obtain important information from 

the independent public accounting firm and from the 

Audit Department. The independent public accounting 

firm monitors the Company’s financial accounting, and 

the Audit Department monitors operations and 

accounting at the parent company and at subsidiaries. 

We assign an assistant to the auditors to help them carry 

out their work smoothly and effectively.

Risk Management

Spearheading risk-preparedness measures at Yokohama 

is our Risk Management Committee, chaired by the 

general manager of the Corporate Social Responsibility 

Division. That committee evaluates risk from a 

cross-sector perspective and devises precautionary 

measures. We have also established committees to 

manage risk, respond to incidents, and establish 

guidelines in regard to ethical compliance, disaster 

preparedness, information security, personal conduct, 

and exports. Our Board of Directors, Executive 

Committee, and corporate auditors receive timely reports 

from all of those committees.

Ethical Compliance

Our Compliance Committee, chaired by the president, 

oversees activity at the company with an eye to ensuring 

compliance with laws and regulations. Responsible for 

enforcing ethical compliance is our Corporate Compliance 

Department. In addition, we assign compliance monitors 

for each sector of operations at the parent company and 

for each subsidiary in Japan to help foster awareness of 

our ethical guidelines. They report to the Compliance 

Committee, which evaluates ethical infractions and 

potential problems and adopts appropriate countermeasures. 

We also maintain hotlines to handle reports of suspected 

infractions from persons inside and outside the Company.

We are committed to positioning Yokohama to achieve continuing growth in corporate value and to 
earn the unwavering con�dence of all our stakeholders. In that spirit, we have built a framework of 
corporate governance for achieving sound management characterized by transparency and fairness. 
We continue to reinforce that framework in accordance with our Basic Philosophy, which calls for 
enriching life through bene�cial products.

Yokohama’s Framework for Corporate Governance
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Corporate Auditors

Board of Directors
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philosophy
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Corporate officers and the divisions 
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How the Compliance Hotline Works

*Employees who leave their names when reporting suspected infractions receive reports of subsequent investigations and remedial measures.

Compliance consultation office

Employees who call attention to possible infractions
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Business Environment
The global economic environment was a mix of 
contrasting trends during the nine-month fiscal period 
under review. Gradual expansion continued in the world 
economy overall, but several factors affected the 
economic environment adversely, including the debt 
crisis in Europe, the economic uncertainty in the United 
States, and the Thai flooding and other natural disasters. 
 In Japan, manufacturers and other companies 
struggled to cope with the supply-chain interruptions 
and power shortages that followed the massive 
earthquake and tsunami of March 11. Those problems 
threatened to derail the national economy, but the 
nation’s companies and citizens joined hands in a 
successful effort to overcome the adversity. Voluntary 
restraint in power consumption and a series of planned, 
rolling blackouts helped Japan get through the summer 
peak-demand period without suffering major outages. 
 Sales in the tire industry were robust during the 
nine-month fiscal period, supported by strong demand 
in Japan and overseas. Yokohama promoted its 
products vigorously during the fiscal period with an eye 
to achieving sustainable growth. 
 The continuing appreciation of the yen remained 
an issue for Yokohama and for other Japan-based 
manufacturers. In the nine months under review, the 
average yen/dollar exchange rate was ¥79, compared 
with ¥87 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, and 
the average yen/euro exchange rate was ¥111, compared 
with ¥113 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. 

Sales, Expenses, and Earnings
As noted elsewhere in this report, Yokohama shi�ed in 2011 to 
calendar-year �scal accounting, �om April-to-March �scal 
accounting. �at resulted in a one-time-only nine-month �scal 
period ended December 31, 2011. Year-on-year comparisons of 
operating results are therefore impossible, and this report 
dispenses with any such comparisons.

Net sales totaled ¥465.1 billion. In tires, Yokohama 
posted strong sales in replacement tires in Japan and 
overseas. In diversified products, the Company posted 
strong sales in high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, in conveyor belts, in marine hoses, and in 
replacement lavatory modules for aircraft. Sales also 
benefited from Yokohama’s progress in securing 
market acceptance for price increases for its tires and 
diversified products. 
 Cost of sales totaled ¥327.3 billion, reflecting 
upward trends in prices for natural rubber and other 
raw materials, and the gross profit margin was 29.6%. 
Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled 
¥111.6 billion—24.0% of net sales. 
 Operating income totaled ¥26.3 billion, reflecting 
earnings contributions from strong sales of studless 
winter tires in Japan, from progress in reducing costs, 
and from improvements in Yokohama’s sales mix. The 
operating return on sales was 5.7%. 
 Other expenses, net of other income, totaled ¥9.7 
billion. That figure includes currency translation 
adjustments associated with the appreciation of the 
yen and a charge for retirement allowances associated 
with a change in the accounting treatment for those 
allowances at a subsidiary. 
 Income before income taxes and minority interests 
totaled ¥16.6 billion, and net income totaled ¥11.6 
billion. Net return on sales was 2.5%.

Results by Segment
By business
Sales totaled ¥379.2 billion in tires, and operating 
income totaled ¥23.4 billion. The Great East Japan 
Earthquake and the Thai floods interrupted vehicle 
production in Japan and diminished demand for 
Yokohama’s original equipment tires. On the other 
hand, Yokohama’s Japanese sales of replacement tires 
were strong, reflecting the manifestation of demand 
pent up since the Lehman Shock and a surge in 
demand for studless winter tires associated with heavy 
snowfall. Overseas sales of replacement tires were 
also strong, as Yokohama posted growth in North 
America, in Europe, in the Middle East, and in Asia.  
 Sales totaled ¥68.2 billion in industrial products, 
including high-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, 
conveyor belts, antiseismic products, marine hoses, 
marine fenders, and operating income totaled ¥1.7 
billion. The Great East Japan Earthquake and the Thai 
floods interrupted vehicle production in Japan and 
diminished demand for Yokohama’s automotive 
hoses and sealants. On the other hand, the global 
boom in resources development spawned demand for 
the Company’s high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, conveyor belts, and marine hoses. 
 Sales totaled ¥17.7 billion in other products, 
including aircraft fixtures and components and golf 
equipment, and operating income totaled ¥1.2 billion. 
Yokohama’s business supplying replacement lavatory 
modules to Boeing Company was strong, but the 
Company’s business in golf equipment weakened in 
the wake of the Great East Japan Earthquake.

By region
Sales in Japan totaled ¥281.7 billion, and operating 
income totaled ¥17.1 billion. Yokohama’s business 
was strong in replacement tires in Japan and overseas, 

though its business in original equipment tires, which 
centers on Japan, was weak. 
 Sales in North America totaled ¥108.8 billion, and 
operating income totaled ¥5.2 billion. Yokohama’s 
North American business was strong in tires and in 
high-pressure hoses. 
 Sales in Asian nations other than Japan totaled 
¥33.8 billion, and operating income totaled ¥3.2 
billion. Yokohama’s business was notably strong in the 
Chinese tire market. 
 Sales in other regions totaled ¥40.9 billion, and 
operating income totaled ¥1.8 billion. Yokohama’s 
business was strong in Europe, led by robust sales in 
Russia, and in Australia.

Financial Position
Total assets increased ¥22.9 billion, to ¥501.8 billion at 
the end of the fiscal period. Current assets increased 
¥34.3 billion, to ¥257.5 billion, as the truncated fiscal 
year amplified the effect of receivables associated with 
winter tires. 
 Total fixed assets declined ¥11.4 billion, to ¥244.3 
billion, as weakness in Japan’s equity market 
undermined the value of securities holdings. 
 Total liabilities increased ¥25.5 billion, to ¥333.5 
billion. That increase included an increase in total 
current liabilities of ¥27.8 billion, to ¥232.0 billion, 
which reflected growth in short-term borrowings and 
the effect of rising prices for raw materials on accounts 
payable. Interest-bearing debt increased ¥15.2 billion, 
to ¥162.0 billion. 
 Total net assets declined ¥2.6 billion, to ¥168.3 
billion, mainly because of valuation losses on securities 
holdings and currency translation adjustments. The ratio 
of interest-bearing debt to total net assets was 1.0, 
which was within management’s stated ceiling of 1.0.

Financial Review

Operating Income by Business Segment
Billions of Yen

Net Sales by Region 
Billions of Yen

Interest-Bearing Debt, Net Assets*, and 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio**
Billions of Yen, Times

Debt-to-Equity Ratio

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

Japan North America Asia Other

(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

281.7

108.8

40.9
33.8

352.5

105.6

33.8
27.9

324.0

90.6

22.0
29.8

359.3

101.8

23.6
32.5

387.2

112.0

23.0
29.2

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

26.0

9.9

20.6

25.0
23.4

Tires Industrial Products and Other Products

(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

7.0

0.8

3.4
4.6

2.9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

165.6

0.9
1.3

1.0 0.9 1.0

179.4

154.7
146.8

162.0

Interest-Bearing Debt Net Assets

(March 31) (Dec. 31)

176.3
159.3

139.9

163.9 162.2

Less minority interests 
Interest-bearing debt 
divided by net assets less 
minority interests

*
**

Operating Income, Net Income (Loss),
and Return on Shareholders’ Equity
Billions of Yen, Percent

11.8

-3.6

7.7
8.6

7.1

Operating Income Net Income (Loss)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

33.1

12.8

21.5

29.5
26.3

21.1

11.5

-5.7

13.9
11.6

 Return on Shareholders’ Equity
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economy overall, but several factors affected the 
economic environment adversely, including the debt 
crisis in Europe, the economic uncertainty in the United 
States, and the Thai flooding and other natural disasters. 
 In Japan, manufacturers and other companies 
struggled to cope with the supply-chain interruptions 
and power shortages that followed the massive 
earthquake and tsunami of March 11. Those problems 
threatened to derail the national economy, but the 
nation’s companies and citizens joined hands in a 
successful effort to overcome the adversity. Voluntary 
restraint in power consumption and a series of planned, 
rolling blackouts helped Japan get through the summer 
peak-demand period without suffering major outages. 
 Sales in the tire industry were robust during the 
nine-month fiscal period, supported by strong demand 
in Japan and overseas. Yokohama promoted its 
products vigorously during the fiscal period with an eye 
to achieving sustainable growth. 
 The continuing appreciation of the yen remained 
an issue for Yokohama and for other Japan-based 
manufacturers. In the nine months under review, the 
average yen/dollar exchange rate was ¥79, compared 
with ¥87 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, and 
the average yen/euro exchange rate was ¥111, compared 
with ¥113 in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. 

Sales, Expenses, and Earnings
As noted elsewhere in this report, Yokohama shi�ed in 2011 to 
calendar-year �scal accounting, �om April-to-March �scal 
accounting. �at resulted in a one-time-only nine-month �scal 
period ended December 31, 2011. Year-on-year comparisons of 
operating results are therefore impossible, and this report 
dispenses with any such comparisons.

Net sales totaled ¥465.1 billion. In tires, Yokohama 
posted strong sales in replacement tires in Japan and 
overseas. In diversified products, the Company posted 
strong sales in high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, in conveyor belts, in marine hoses, and in 
replacement lavatory modules for aircraft. Sales also 
benefited from Yokohama’s progress in securing 
market acceptance for price increases for its tires and 
diversified products. 
 Cost of sales totaled ¥327.3 billion, reflecting 
upward trends in prices for natural rubber and other 
raw materials, and the gross profit margin was 29.6%. 
Selling, general and administrative expenses totaled 
¥111.6 billion—24.0% of net sales. 
 Operating income totaled ¥26.3 billion, reflecting 
earnings contributions from strong sales of studless 
winter tires in Japan, from progress in reducing costs, 
and from improvements in Yokohama’s sales mix. The 
operating return on sales was 5.7%. 
 Other expenses, net of other income, totaled ¥9.7 
billion. That figure includes currency translation 
adjustments associated with the appreciation of the 
yen and a charge for retirement allowances associated 
with a change in the accounting treatment for those 
allowances at a subsidiary. 
 Income before income taxes and minority interests 
totaled ¥16.6 billion, and net income totaled ¥11.6 
billion. Net return on sales was 2.5%.

Results by Segment
By business
Sales totaled ¥379.2 billion in tires, and operating 
income totaled ¥23.4 billion. The Great East Japan 
Earthquake and the Thai floods interrupted vehicle 
production in Japan and diminished demand for 
Yokohama’s original equipment tires. On the other 
hand, Yokohama’s Japanese sales of replacement tires 
were strong, reflecting the manifestation of demand 
pent up since the Lehman Shock and a surge in 
demand for studless winter tires associated with heavy 
snowfall. Overseas sales of replacement tires were 
also strong, as Yokohama posted growth in North 
America, in Europe, in the Middle East, and in Asia.  
 Sales totaled ¥68.2 billion in industrial products, 
including high-pressure hoses, sealants and adhesives, 
conveyor belts, antiseismic products, marine hoses, 
marine fenders, and operating income totaled ¥1.7 
billion. The Great East Japan Earthquake and the Thai 
floods interrupted vehicle production in Japan and 
diminished demand for Yokohama’s automotive 
hoses and sealants. On the other hand, the global 
boom in resources development spawned demand for 
the Company’s high-pressure hoses for construction 
equipment, conveyor belts, and marine hoses. 
 Sales totaled ¥17.7 billion in other products, 
including aircraft fixtures and components and golf 
equipment, and operating income totaled ¥1.2 billion. 
Yokohama’s business supplying replacement lavatory 
modules to Boeing Company was strong, but the 
Company’s business in golf equipment weakened in 
the wake of the Great East Japan Earthquake.

By region
Sales in Japan totaled ¥281.7 billion, and operating 
income totaled ¥17.1 billion. Yokohama’s business 
was strong in replacement tires in Japan and overseas, 

though its business in original equipment tires, which 
centers on Japan, was weak. 
 Sales in North America totaled ¥108.8 billion, and 
operating income totaled ¥5.2 billion. Yokohama’s 
North American business was strong in tires and in 
high-pressure hoses. 
 Sales in Asian nations other than Japan totaled 
¥33.8 billion, and operating income totaled ¥3.2 
billion. Yokohama’s business was notably strong in the 
Chinese tire market. 
 Sales in other regions totaled ¥40.9 billion, and 
operating income totaled ¥1.8 billion. Yokohama’s 
business was strong in Europe, led by robust sales in 
Russia, and in Australia.

Financial Position
Total assets increased ¥22.9 billion, to ¥501.8 billion at 
the end of the fiscal period. Current assets increased 
¥34.3 billion, to ¥257.5 billion, as the truncated fiscal 
year amplified the effect of receivables associated with 
winter tires. 
 Total fixed assets declined ¥11.4 billion, to ¥244.3 
billion, as weakness in Japan’s equity market 
undermined the value of securities holdings. 
 Total liabilities increased ¥25.5 billion, to ¥333.5 
billion. That increase included an increase in total 
current liabilities of ¥27.8 billion, to ¥232.0 billion, 
which reflected growth in short-term borrowings and 
the effect of rising prices for raw materials on accounts 
payable. Interest-bearing debt increased ¥15.2 billion, 
to ¥162.0 billion. 
 Total net assets declined ¥2.6 billion, to ¥168.3 
billion, mainly because of valuation losses on securities 
holdings and currency translation adjustments. The ratio 
of interest-bearing debt to total net assets was 1.0, 
which was within management’s stated ceiling of 1.0.

Financial Review

Operating Income by Business Segment
Billions of Yen

Net Sales by Region 
Billions of Yen

Interest-Bearing Debt, Net Assets*, and 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio**
Billions of Yen, Times

Debt-to-Equity Ratio

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

Japan North America Asia Other

(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

281.7

108.8

40.9
33.8

352.5

105.6

33.8
27.9

324.0

90.6

22.0
29.8

359.3

101.8

23.6
32.5

387.2

112.0

23.0
29.2

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

26.0

9.9

20.6

25.0
23.4

Tires Industrial Products and Other Products

(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

7.0

0.8

3.4
4.6

2.9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

165.6

0.9
1.3

1.0 0.9 1.0

179.4

154.7
146.8

162.0

Interest-Bearing Debt Net Assets

(March 31) (Dec. 31)

176.3
159.3

139.9

163.9 162.2

Less minority interests 
Interest-bearing debt 
divided by net assets less 
minority interests

*
**

Operating Income, Net Income (Loss),
and Return on Shareholders’ Equity
Billions of Yen, Percent

11.8

-3.6

7.7
8.6

7.1

Operating Income Net Income (Loss)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

33.1

12.8

21.5

29.5
26.3

21.1

11.5

-5.7

13.9
11.6

 Return on Shareholders’ Equity



PMS 5405U

PMS 556U

32 33

Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operating activities totaled ¥8.1 
billion, net cash used in investing activities totaled 
¥26.7 billion, and free cash flow totaled a negative 
¥18.5 billion. Net cash provided by financing activities 
totaled ¥12.8 billion. Cash and cash equivalents at 
fiscal year-end totaled ¥21.6 billion.

Capital Expenditures
Yokohama’s capital spending in the nine-month fiscal 
period under review totaled ¥22.4 billion. That total 
included ¥19.5 billion in investment in tire operations, 
largely to expand production capacity outside Japan, 
and ¥2.1 billion in investment in industrial products 
operations, largely to expand production capacity for 
high-pressure hoses. Yokohama funded its capital 
spending with internally generated funds and 
supplementary borrowings. The Company did not 
conduct any significant disposals of fixed assets during 
the fiscal period under review.

R&D
Expenditures on R&D totaled ¥9.3 billion in the 
nine-month fiscal period under review. R&D at 
Yokohama consists of basic research at the Research 
and Development Integrated Center, based at the 

Company’s Hiratsuka Factory, and applied 
development in Yokohama’s product divisions. The 
expenditures cited above comprised ¥900 million for 
basic research, ¥5.9 billion for tire development, ¥1.7 
billion for industrial products development, and ¥700 
million for other products development.

Dividends
Yokohama abides by a policy of paying steady 
dividends while retaining sufficient earnings to support 
investment programs, to fund R&D programs, and to 
otherwise fortify its corporate foundation. The 
Company paid an aggregate dividend of ¥7 for the 
nine-month fiscal period under review: an interim 
dividend of ¥3 and a term-end dividend of ¥4.

Fiscal Outlook
In the fiscal year to December 2012, Yokohama’s fiscal 
projections call for net income of ¥25.0 billion on 
operating income of ¥40.0 billion and net sales of 
¥575.0 billion. The Company will be working to fulfill 
those projections amid uncertainty about such issues as 
the European debt crisis and the strong yen. 
Management has predicated its fiscal projections on 
average exchange rates of ¥75 to the dollar and ¥95 to 
the euro. 

Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely a�ect the 
Company’s business performance, �nancial position, or share 
price. All references to possible future events and to other subjects 
are �om the standpoint of the nine-month �scal period ended 
December 31, 2011.

Economic Conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires reflects 
economic conditions in nations and regions where the 
Company sells its products. Therefore, economic trends 
and developments that diminish demand in the 
Company’s main markets—including Japan, North 
America, Europe, and Asian nations besides Japan— 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Exchange Rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it conducts 
some transactions and investment in dollars and in 
other currencies. The Company continues to expand its 
operations globally. That expansion will increase the 
Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. The Company hedges its exposure to 
currency exchange rates with forward exchange 
contracts and with other instruments, but hedging 
cannot fully offset the effect of fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Seasonal Factors
Historically, the Company’s sales and earnings 
performance has tended to be strongest in the winter 
months. That is mainly because sales of studless winter 
tires are an important contributor to the Company’s 
sales and earnings. A later-than-usual onset of winter 
or lighter-than-usual snowfall could diminish demand 
for winter tires and thereby adversely affect the 
Company’s business performance and financial position.

Raw Material Prices
Yokohama’s principal raw materials are natural rubber 
and petrochemical products, including synthetic rubber 
and carbon black. Sharp increases in prices for crude oil 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Access to Funding
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could affect the Company‘s access to funding 

adversely. In addition, the lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies could 
adversely affect the Company’s access to debt 
financing and could increase the Company’s cost of 
funds. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest Rates
As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s 
interest-bearing debt was equivalent to 32.9% of its 
total assets. An increase in interest rates could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial performance 
and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
In response to growing demand for automobile tires, 
the Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes in the 
regulatory environment, in economic conditions, in 
industrial circumstances, or in political and social 
stability in the host nations for the Company’s 
investment could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit obligations 
and retirement benefit expenses according to predetermined 
criteria, including expected returns on pension assets. If 
actual return on the Company’s pension assets declined 
substantially below the expected return, that could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial performance 
and financial position. Similarly, if the Company revised 
its retirement plan in a manner that increased future 
payment obligations or resulted in the occurrence of 
unforeseen service liabilities, that could adversely 
affect the Company’s financial performance and 
financial position.

Natural Disasters
Earthquakes and other natural disasters could damage 
the Company’s plants and other facilities and could 
limit the Company’s access to essential raw materials 
and services. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Risk

Capital Expenditures and Depreciation
Billions of Yen

Net Cash Provided by Operating 
Activities and Free Cash Flow*
Billions of Yen

Free cash flow = Net cash 
provided by operating 
activities less net cash 
used in investing 
activities

Capital Expenditures DepreciationNet Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Free Cash Flow

41.6

19.7

49.8

41.2

8.17.9

24.6

-19.3

20.6

-18.5

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

27.3

43.3

17.5

24.9
22.4

28.228.7
25.9

19.9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11) (4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

27.2

*
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high-pressure hoses. Yokohama funded its capital 
spending with internally generated funds and 
supplementary borrowings. The Company did not 
conduct any significant disposals of fixed assets during 
the fiscal period under review.

R&D
Expenditures on R&D totaled ¥9.3 billion in the 
nine-month fiscal period under review. R&D at 
Yokohama consists of basic research at the Research 
and Development Integrated Center, based at the 

Company’s Hiratsuka Factory, and applied 
development in Yokohama’s product divisions. The 
expenditures cited above comprised ¥900 million for 
basic research, ¥5.9 billion for tire development, ¥1.7 
billion for industrial products development, and ¥700 
million for other products development.

Dividends
Yokohama abides by a policy of paying steady 
dividends while retaining sufficient earnings to support 
investment programs, to fund R&D programs, and to 
otherwise fortify its corporate foundation. The 
Company paid an aggregate dividend of ¥7 for the 
nine-month fiscal period under review: an interim 
dividend of ¥3 and a term-end dividend of ¥4.

Fiscal Outlook
In the fiscal year to December 2012, Yokohama’s fiscal 
projections call for net income of ¥25.0 billion on 
operating income of ¥40.0 billion and net sales of 
¥575.0 billion. The Company will be working to fulfill 
those projections amid uncertainty about such issues as 
the European debt crisis and the strong yen. 
Management has predicated its fiscal projections on 
average exchange rates of ¥75 to the dollar and ¥95 to 
the euro. 

Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely a�ect the 
Company’s business performance, �nancial position, or share 
price. All references to possible future events and to other subjects 
are �om the standpoint of the nine-month �scal period ended 
December 31, 2011.

Economic Conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires reflects 
economic conditions in nations and regions where the 
Company sells its products. Therefore, economic trends 
and developments that diminish demand in the 
Company’s main markets—including Japan, North 
America, Europe, and Asian nations besides Japan— 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Exchange Rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it conducts 
some transactions and investment in dollars and in 
other currencies. The Company continues to expand its 
operations globally. That expansion will increase the 
Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. The Company hedges its exposure to 
currency exchange rates with forward exchange 
contracts and with other instruments, but hedging 
cannot fully offset the effect of fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Seasonal Factors
Historically, the Company’s sales and earnings 
performance has tended to be strongest in the winter 
months. That is mainly because sales of studless winter 
tires are an important contributor to the Company’s 
sales and earnings. A later-than-usual onset of winter 
or lighter-than-usual snowfall could diminish demand 
for winter tires and thereby adversely affect the 
Company’s business performance and financial position.

Raw Material Prices
Yokohama’s principal raw materials are natural rubber 
and petrochemical products, including synthetic rubber 
and carbon black. Sharp increases in prices for crude oil 
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Access to Funding
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could affect the Company‘s access to funding 

adversely. In addition, the lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies could 
adversely affect the Company’s access to debt 
financing and could increase the Company’s cost of 
funds. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest Rates
As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s 
interest-bearing debt was equivalent to 32.9% of its 
total assets. An increase in interest rates could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial performance 
and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
In response to growing demand for automobile tires, 
the Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes in the 
regulatory environment, in economic conditions, in 
industrial circumstances, or in political and social 
stability in the host nations for the Company’s 
investment could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit obligations 
and retirement benefit expenses according to predetermined 
criteria, including expected returns on pension assets. If 
actual return on the Company’s pension assets declined 
substantially below the expected return, that could 
adversely affect the Company’s financial performance 
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Billions of Yen
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used in investing 
activities

Capital Expenditures DepreciationNet Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Free Cash Flow

41.6

19.7

49.8

41.2

8.17.9

24.6

-19.3

20.6

-18.5

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011

27.3

43.3

17.5

24.9
22.4

28.228.7
25.9

19.9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
(4/10–3/11) (4–12/11) (4/10–3/11) (4–12/11)

27.2

*



34

Eleven-Year Summary
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and the years ended March 31, 2002–2011

Millions of Yen

2 0 1 1 / 1 2 2 0 1 1 / 3 2 0 1 0 2 0 0 9 2 0 0 8 2 0 0 7 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 5 2 0 0 4 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Net sales ¥465,134 ¥519,742 ¥466,358 ¥517,263 ¥551,431 ¥497,396 ¥451,911 ¥419,789 ¥401,718 ¥400,448 ¥399,824 

Operating income 26,291 29,491 21,455 12,808 33,119 21,070 21,947 20,955 21,073 23,184 22,701 

Income before income taxes and minority interests 16,604 21,880 18,969       (3,166) 20,478 26,038 22,673 16,337 16,931 18,778 16,076 

Net income (loss) 11,619 13,924 11,487       (5,654) 21,060 16,363 21,447 11,322 10,331 10,144 7,363 

Depreciation 19,871 25,885 28,184 28,684 27,238 22,166 20,491 19,616 19,199 19,040 19,247 

Capital expenditures 22,433 24,944 17,471 43,341 27,292 40,638 29,067 27,533 23,735 22,708 16,940 

R&D expenditures 9,307 12,748 13,280 15,277 15,289 14,649 14,557 14,265 13,818 12,520 12,298 

Interest-bearing debt 161,998 146,773 154,675 179,379 165,614 167,474 163,022 151,758 159,700 167,832 179,098 

Total net assets 168,286 170,872 163,382 144,159 181,538 186,528 174,609 139,534 130,622 114,719 116 

Total assets 501,786 478,916 466,973 473,376 526,192 536,322 502,014 432,717 429,350 412,626 437,771 

Per share (yen):

Net income (loss): Basic ¥  34.68 ¥  41.55 ¥  34.27    ¥ (16.87)  ¥  62.81 ¥  48.79 ¥  62.75 ¥  32.95 ¥  29.95 ¥  29.38 ¥  21.32 

Net assets 484.04 489.27 475.26 417.45 525.96 542.10 508.64 398.24 373.23 327.61 334.24 

Cash dividends 7.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 13.00 12.00 10.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 6.00 

Key financial ratios:

Operating margin (%) 5.7 5.7 4.6 2.5 6.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 5.2 5.8 5.7 

Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 7.1 8.6 7.7           (3.6) 11.8 9.3 14.0 8.6 8.6 8.9 6.5 

Capital turnover (times) 0.9 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9 

Interest-bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (times) 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.3 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.5 1.6 

Interest coverage (times) 14.3 13.4 8.0 4.3 9.0 7.0 10.1 11.2 9.2 7.9 4.9 

Number of employees 19,272 18,465 17,566 16,772 16,099 15,423 14,617 13,464 13,264 12,979 13,130 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

Assets 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1
 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Current Assets:

Cash and deposits

Trade receivables:

 Notes and accounts

Inventories (Note 5)

Deferred income taxes (Note 19)

Other current assets

Allowance for doubtful receivables

¥  21,751

142,132

75,801

8,182

10,772

(1,160)

¥  28,161

111,702

68,435

6,269

9,621

(960)

$   279,789

1,828,296

975,063

105,243

138,566

(14,923)

Total current assets 257,478 223,228 3,312,034 

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost (Notes 6, 7 and 14):

Land

Buildings and structures

Machinery and equipment

Leased assets

Construction in progress

34,606

140,897

401,973

2,873

11,661 

34,571

138,092

399,495

2,536

16,172 

445,145

1,812,409

5,170,745

36,960

149,999 

Less accumulated depreciation

592,010

(417,401)

590,866

(413,496)

7,615,258

(5,369,196)

Total property, plant and equipment, net 174,609 177,370 2,246,062 

Investments and Other Assets:

Investment securities (Note 16)

Deferred income taxes (Note 19)

Other investments and other assets

Allowance for doubtful receivables

50,871

5,394

14,175

(741)

59,360 

4,820

14,834

(696)

654,368 

69,379 

182,357 

(9,530)  

Total investments and other assets 69,699 78,318 896,574 

Total  assets ¥501,786 ¥478,916 $6,454,670 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

Liabilities and Net Assets 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1
 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Current Liabilities:

Bank loans

Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6)

Commercial paper

Trade notes and accounts payable

Accrued income taxes

Accrued expenses

Allowance for loss on disaster

Allowance for sales returns

Other current liabilities (Note 19)

¥ 82,239

7,147

 9,000 

86,962 

4,776 

26,330 

89 

702 

14,799  

¥ 70,349 

8,220 

 3,000 

79,611 

1,167 

28,961 

453 

—

12,490 

$  1,057,866 

91,934 

 115,771 

1,118,622 

61,431 

338,696

1,149  

9,035 

190,365 

Total current liabilities 232,044 204,251 2,984,869 

Long-Term Liabilities:

Long-term debt (Note 6)

Deferred income taxes (Note 19)

Reserve for pension and severance payments (Note 18)

Other long-term liabilities

63,613 

3,800 

18,402 

15,641 

65,204 

8,873 

16,281 

13,435  

$  818,276 

48,885 

236,715 

201,189 

Total long-term liabilities 101,456 103,793 1,305,065 

Total liabilities 333,500 308,044 4,289,934 

Contingent liabilities (Note 9)

Net Assets

Shareholders' Equity:

Common stock:

 Authorized: 700,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011

 Issued: 342,598,162 shares as of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011

Capital surplus

Retained earnings (Note 12)

Treasury stock, at cost: 7,548,581 shares as of December 31, 2011 

 and 7,533,081 shares as of March 31, 2011

 38,909 

 31,953 

 117,016 

(4,753)

38,909 

31,953 

108,083 

(4,746)

500,504 

411,023 

1,505,226 

(61,140)

  Total shareholders' equity  183,125 174,199 2,355,613 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Unrealized gains on securities

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Adjustments related to pension obligations

 of consolidated overseas subsidiaries

 11,322 

(26,389)

(5,882)

16,426 

(21,829)

(4,860)

145,639 

(339,457)

(75,658)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (20,949) (10,263) (269,476)

Minority Interests  6,110 6,936  78,599 

Total net assets  168,286 170,872 2,164,736 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥501,786 ¥478,916 $6,454,670 
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Consolidated Statements of Income
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 0  2 0 1 1

    (04.01.11– (04.01.10–  (04.01.11–
    12.31.11) 03.31.11)  12.31.11)

Net sales

Cost of sales (Notes 7 and 10)

¥465,134 

327,271 

¥519,742 

359,210 

¥466,358 

323,681 

$5,983,198 

4,209,817 

Gross profit 137,863 160,532 142,677 1,773,381 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 7 and 10) 111,572 131,041 121,222 1,435,193 

Operating income

Other income (expenses)

Interest and dividend income

Interest expense

Exchange loss

Gain on sale of fixed assets

Loss on sale and disposal of fixed assets

Loss on disaster (Note 11)

Pension and severance cost (Notes 2 and 18)

Other, net

26,291  

1,317 

(1,937)

(5,252)

264 

(881)

—

(3,019)

(179)

29,491 

1,548 

(2,316)

(4,569)

—

(355)

(1,003)

—

(916)

21,455 

1,332 

(2,848)

(385)

—

(573)

—

—

(12)

338,188 

16,944 

(24,916)

(67,558)

3,402 

(11,329)

—

(38,830)

(2,320)

(9,687) (7,611) (2,486) (124,607)

Income before income taxes and minority interests

Income taxes (Notes 2 and 19):

Current

Deferred

16,604 

6,634 

(2,306)

21,880 

4,144 

2,954 

18,969  

2,775 

4,337 

213,581 

85,333 

(29,661)

4,328 7,098 7,112 55,672 

Income before minority interests

Minority interests in net income of
consolidated subsidiaries

12,276 

(657)

 14,782 

(858)

 11,857 

(370)

157,909 

(8,449)

Net income ¥  11,619 ¥  13,924 ¥   11,487 $   149,460 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and year ended March 31, 2011

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

     2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

     (04.01.11– (04.01.10– (04.01.11–
     12.31.11) 03.31.11) 12.31.11)

  U.S. Dollars 
 Yen (Note 1)

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 0  2 0 1 1

    (04.01.11– (04.01.10–  (04.01.11–
    12.31.11) 03.31.11)  12.31.11)

Per Share Amounts:
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Income before minority interests

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Unrealized gains on securities

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Adjustment related to pension obligations

of consolidated overseas subsidiaries

Share of other comprehensive income of associates

accounted for by the equity method

¥12,276  

(5,104)

(4,897)

(1,022)

(50)

¥14,782 

23 

(6,060)

(96)

(143)

$157,910 

(65,654)

(62,990)

(13,145)

(650)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) ¥(11,073) ¥ (6,276) $(142,439)

Comprehensive income ¥  1,203 ¥  8,506 $  15,470 

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company

Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests

933 

270 

8,033 

473 

12,003 

3,467 

Net income: Basic ¥34.68 ¥41.55 ¥34.27 $0.45 

Net income: Diluted — — — — 

Cash dividends ¥  7.00 ¥10.00 ¥10.00 $0.09 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 Millions of Yen
       Total Accumu-  
 Shares of     Total lated Other  
 Common Common Capital Retained Treasury Shareholders’ Comprehensive Minority Total 
 Stock Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Equity Income(Loss) Interests Net Assets

Balance at April 1, 2009 342,598,162 ¥38,909 ¥31,953 ¥  83,273 ¥(4,700) ¥149,435 ¥  (9,512) ¥4,236 ¥144,159

 Adjustment for employee benefit obligations 

  in overseas subsidiaries — — — 663 — 663 — — 663

 Net income — — — 11,487 — 11,487 — — 11,487

 Cash dividends paid — — — (2,681) — (2,681) — — (2,681)

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net — — — (2) (30) (32) — — (32)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — 8,436 — 8,436

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — 1,468 — 1,468

 Decrease in minority interests — — — — — — — (118) (118)

Balance at March 31, 2010 342,598,162 38,909 31,953 92,740 (4,730) 158,872 392 4,118 163,382

 Adjustment for employee benefit obligations 

  in overseas subsidiaries — — — 4,763 — 4,763 — — 4,763

 Net income — — — 13,924 — 13,924 — — 13,924

 Cash dividends paid — — — (3,351) — (3,351) — — (3,351)

 Increase in retained earnings due to 

  inclusion of a consolidated subsidiary — — — 8 — 8 — — 8

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — — (1) (16) (17) — — (17)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — 24  — 24

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — (5,819) — (5,819)

  Adjustments related to pension obligations

   of consolidated overseas subsidiaries — — — — — — (4,860) — (4,860)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — 2,818 2,818

Balance at March 31, 2011 342,598,162  38,909 31,953 108,083 (4,746) 174,199 (10,263) 6,936 170,872

 Net income — — — 11,619 — 11,619 — — 11,619

 Cash dividends paid — — — (3,016) — (3,016) — — (3,016)

 Increase in retained earnings due to

  inclusion of a consolidated subsidiary — — — 330 — 330 — — 330

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net  — — — (0) (7) (7) — — (7)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities — — — — — — (5,104) — (5,104)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — (4,560) — (4,560)

  Adjustments related to pension obligations

   of consolidated overseas subsidiaries — — — — — — (1,022) — (1,022)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — (826) (826)

Balance at December 31, 2011 342,598,162 ¥38,909 ¥31,953 ¥117,016 ¥(4,753) ¥183,125 ¥(20,949) ¥6,110 ¥168,286

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010
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 Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)
       Total Accumu-  
      Total lated Other  
  Common Capital Retained Treasury Shareholders’ Comprehensive Minority Total 
  Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Equity Income(Loss) Interests Net Assets

Balance at March 31, 2011  $500,504 $411,023 $1,390,317 $(61,055) $2,240,789 $(132,020) $89,220 $2,197,989

 Net income  — — 149,460 — 149,460 — — 149,460

 Cash dividends paid  — — (38,790) — (38,790) — — (38,790)

 Increase in retained earnings due to

  inclusion of a consolidated subsidiary  — — 4,241 — 4,241 — — 4,241

 Repurchase of treasury stock, net   — — (2) (85) (87) — — (87)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and losses on securities  — — — — — (65,650) — (65,650)

  Foreign currency translation adjustments  — — — — — (58,661) — (58,661)

  Adjustments related to pension obligations

   of consolidated overseas subsidiaries  — — — — — (13,145)  (13,145)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — (10,621) (10,621)

Balance at December 31, 2011 $500,504 $411,023 $1,505,226 $(61,140) $2,355,613 $(269,476) $78,599 $2,164,736
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010

Operating Activities:

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests ¥16,604  ¥21,880  ¥18,969  $213,581 

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and minority

 interests to net cash provided by operating activities:

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 2 and 7) 19,871  25,885  28,184  255,607 

 Increase(decrease) in reserve for pension and severance payments 2,128  (638) (526) 27,378 

 Gain on sale of investment securities — — (718) —

 Loss on revaluation of investment securities — —  33  —

 Other, net 2,469  1,831  1,103  31,765 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

 Trade notes and accounts receivable (31,092) (10,883) (9,709) (399,951)

 Inventories (7,929) (3,677) 20,701  (101,997)

 Notes and accounts payable 7,541  11,442  (3,575) 96,997 

 Other, net 1,890  55  (497) 24,319 

Interest and dividends received 1,335  1,597  1,295  17,183 

Interest paid (1,887) (2,329) (2,845) (24,275)

Income taxes paid (2,806) (3,996) (2,570) (36,101)

 Net cash provided by operating activities 8,124  41,167  49,845  104,506 

Investing Activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (23,206) (20,429) (19,690) (298,503)

Purchases of marketable securities and investment securities (1,729) (189) (6,268) (22,241)

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities, 

 investment securities and property 441  211  1,230  5,675 

Other, net (2,161) (168) (502) (27,805)

 Net cash used in investing activities (26,655) (20,575) (25,230) (342,874)

Financing Activities: 
Increase (decrease) in short-term bank loans 12,187  (3,470) (3,782) 156,769 

Increase (decrease) in commercial paper 6,000  3,000  (19,000) 77,180 

Proceeds from long-term debt 5,306  18,602  13,167  68,255 

Decrease in long-term debt (7,111) (13,891) (16,363) (91,469)

Redemption of bonds — (10,000) — —

Payment of cash dividends (3,015) (3,348) (2,728) (38,782)

Other, net (525) 1,766  (729) (6,763)

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 12,842 (7,341)  (29,435) 165,190

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (977) (1,456)  140 (12,573)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,666) 11,795  (4,680) (85,751)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  28,161  11,559  16,239  362,247

Effect of changes in consolidation scope on

cash and cash equivalents 72   4,807  — 927

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  ¥21,567  ¥28,161  ¥11,559  $277,423 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

  Thousands of 
  U.S. Dollars 
 Millions of Yen (Note 1)

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 0  2 0 1 1

    (04.01.11– (04.01.10–  (04.01.11–
    12.31.11) 03.31.11)  12.31.11)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), and its 
domestic consolidated subsidiaries were prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in 
Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the 
Company as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan. The Company’s subsidiaries in the 
United States of America (the “USA”) prepared their financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the USA.
 In preparing these statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the 
consolidated financial statements prepared domestically to present these statements in a form that is more familiar 
to readers outside Japan. In addition, the accompanying notes include information that is not required under 
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.
 The U.S. dollar amounts included herein are solely for the convenience of the reader and have been translated 
from the Japanese yen amounts at the rate of ¥77.74 = US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on 
December 31, 2011.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a. Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its significant 
majority-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries (together, the “Companies”). Investment in significant 
unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies (companies owned 20% to 50%) is accounted for by the 
equity method.
 All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The excess of the 
cost of the Companies’ investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies over their equity in the net assets at the 
dates of acquisition was not material and was fully written off when acquired.

b. Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the year-end spot rates. The resulting exchange gains 
and losses are charged or credited to income.
 The assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries outside Japan are translated at the fiscal year-end rates 
of those companies, and the income and expense accounts of those companies are translated at the average 
rates of those companies.
 Differences arising from such translation are recorded in foreign currency translation adjustments and minority 
interests in net assets.

c. Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months 
or less are considered cash equivalents.

d. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities
Securities classified as available for sale and whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value with 
unrealized gains or losses included as a component of net assets, net of applicable taxes. Costs are determined by 
the moving-average method.
 Securities whose fair value is not readily determinable are carried at cost. Costs are determined by the moving-
average method.

e. Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value.

f. Inventories
Inventories of the Company and domestic subsidiaries are stated at cost determined by the moving-average 
method, and inventories of certain foreign subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost based on the first-in first-out 
method or market. The book value of inventories of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries reflects 
a write-down due to declines in profitability.
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g. Allowance for Doubtful Receivables
The allowance for doubtful receivables is provided at an estimated amount of probable bad debts plus an amount 
based on past credit loss experience.

h. Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed principally by the declining-balance method based on 
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.

i. Reserve for Severance Payments and Employee Benefit Plans
Employees who terminate their service with the Companies are, under most circumstances, entitled to lump-sum 
severance payments determined by reference to their current basic rate of pay and length of service. The 
Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries have noncontributory pension plans for termination caused by age 
limit.
 The Companies accounted for these liabilities based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the 
balance sheet date. Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss are amortized starting in the year following the year in 
which the gain or loss is recognized primarily by the straight-line method over a period of 10 years, which is shorter 
than the average remaining service period of employees.
Additional information
Due to reorganization of Japanese sales subsidiaries, Yokohama Tire Japan Co., Ltd. integrated and changed its 
retirement benefit plan as of July 1, 2011 from a tax qualified pension plan and part of lump-sum severance 
indemnity plans to a defined contribution pension plan. This change resulted in an increase of ¥200 million ($2,577 
thousand) in other income. 
 Because the numbers of employees per plan exceeded 300 by this reorganization, Yokohama Tire Japan Co., 
Ltd. and Yokohama Industrial Products Japan Co., Ltd. have changed their calculation method for the projected 
benefit obligation from the simplified method to the principal method. As a result of this change, the difference 
between the amount calculated by the simplified method and that calculated by the principal method in the 
amount of ¥3,019 million ($38,830 thousand) was recorded as “Pension and severance cost” in other expenses.

j. Allowance for Loss on Disaster
The allowance for loss on disaster is provided at an estimated amount for expenses related to the restoration and 
repair of tangible fixed assets damaged due to the Great East Japan Earthquake.

k. Allowance for Sales Returns
An allowance for sales returns is provided for losses incurred on the return of snow tires sold during the fiscal year but 
returned subsequent to the balance sheet date. The allowance is based on an estimate using the average rate of 
such returns in prior years.
Additional information
Losses on returned snow tires had previously been recorded in the period in which the returns occurred, but the 
Company determined to estimate this allowance based on the historical return rate as the fiscal accounting period 
changed.
 Consequently, an allowance for sales returns has been newly recorded at ¥702 million ($9,035 thousand) in 
current liabilities as of December 31, 2011.

l. Income Taxes
Income taxes in Japan comprise a corporate tax, an enterprise tax and prefectural and municipal inhabitants’ 
taxes.
 Provision is made for deferred income taxes arising from temporary differences between assets or liabilities 
for financial and tax reporting purposes.

m. Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized upon product shipments to customers.

n. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.
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o. Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the average 
number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because 
there were no dilutive securities in the nine months ended December 31, 2011, and years ended March 31, 2011 
and 2010.

p. Additional Information
Effective beginning the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, the “Accounting Standard for Accounting Changes 
and Error Corrections” (ASBJ Statement No. 24, December 4, 2009) and the “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (ASBJ Guidance No. 24, December 4, 2009) have been applied for 
accounting changes and past error corrections.

3. Change in Fiscal Year-End
The Company changed its closing date of accounts on a consolidated basis from March 31 to December 31 of 
each year pursuant to the resolution of the 135th General Shareholders’ Meeting convened on June 29, 2011.
 The change is to align the fiscal accounting periods at the parent company and its Japanese subsidiaries with 
the January–December fiscal period adopted by most of its overseas subsidiaries in order to enhance budgeting 
efficiency, fiscal management, and other phases of management and operations. In addition, the change will 
bring the Company into conformance with International Financial Reporting Standards(IFRS), which provide that all 
individual corporate members of a consolidated entity should adopt the same fiscal accounting period. The 
change resulted in a nine-month fiscal period from April 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011.

4. Fiscal Year of Subsidiaries
The account closing date of all subsidiaries is December 31. 
 In preparing consolidated financial statements, 18 Japanese subsidiaries’ financial statements for a nine-month 
accounting period (from April 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011) have been used, while 78 Japanese subsidiaries’ and 
24 overseas subsidiaries’ financial statements for a twelve-month accounting period (from January 1, 2011 to 
December 31, 2011) have been used.

5. Inventories
Inventories at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 consisted of the following:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Finished products ¥49,358 ¥44,838 $634,906

Work in process 7,311 8,184 94,047

Raw materials and supplies 19,132 15,413 246,110

 ¥75,801 ¥68,435 $975,063

6. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 consisted of the following:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

1.688% straight bonds due 2013 ¥10,000 ¥10,000 $128,634

1.68% straight bonds due 2014 10,000 10,000 128,634

Loans, principally from banks and 
　insurance companies 50,760 53,424 652,942

 70,760 73,424 910,210

Less current maturities 7,147 8,220 91,934

 ¥63,613 ¥65,204 $818,276
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Assets pledged to secure bank loans and long-term debt at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 were as 
follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Property, plant and equipment ¥44,430 ¥51,832 $571,525

7. Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expenses for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and for the years ended 
March 31, 2011 and 2010 were allocated as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 0  2 0 1 1

 Nine months Year ended   Nine months

 ended 12.31 03.31  ended 12.31

Selling, general and administrative expenses ¥  2,125 ¥  2,649 ¥  2,964 $  27,334

Manufacturing costs ¥17,746 ¥23,236 ¥25,220 $228,273

8. Notes Maturing on December 31, 2011
As December 31, 2011, which was the account closing date, was a non-business day for financial institutions, notes 
receivable and payable maturing on that date were settled on the following business day. However, the Company 
recognized notes receivable and payable that matured on the date as being settled. Information on notes 
receivable and payable treated as settled was as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

  (12.31.11) (12.31.11)

Notes receivable ¥1,124 $14,461

Notes payable 1,676 21,561

Other current liabilities (Notes payable—facilities) 225 2,898

9. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 were as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Guarantees ¥3,470 ¥3,662 $44,642

10. Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses charged to manufacturing costs and selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 were 
¥9,307 million ($119,721 thousand), ¥12,748 million and ¥13,280 million, respectively.
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11. Loss on Disaster
Loss on disaster related to the Great East Japan Earthquake for the year ended March 31, 2011 included the 
following:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (04.01.11– (04.01.10– (04.01.11–

 12.31.11) 03.31.11) 12.31.11)

Repair expenses — ¥   399 —

Costs on suspended operations — 210 —

Others — 394 —

 — ¥1,003 —

  The allowance for loss on disaster was ¥89 million ($1,149 thousand) and ¥453 million as of December 31, 2011 
and March 31, 2011, respectively.

12. Retained Earnings and Dividends
The amount of retained earnings available for dividends under the Corporate Law of Japan is based on the amount 
stated in the nonconsolidated financial statements of the Company. Dividends are approved by the shareholders 
at a meeting held subsequent to the fiscal year for which the dividends are applicable.

13. Supplementary Cash Flow Information
A reconciliation of cash and deposits presented in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 
March 31, 2011 and 2010 and cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows for 
the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and for the years ended March 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 0  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11)   (12.31.11)

Cash and deposits ¥21,751 ¥28,161 ¥11,561 $279,789

Time deposits with maturities of

    more than three months (184) (0) (2) (2,366)

Cash and cash equivalents ¥21,567 ¥28,161 ¥11,559 $277,423

14. Leases
Leased assets under finance lease agreements include molds and warehouse equipment. Depreciation of leased 
assets is computed by the straight-line method over the term of the leases.

Future lease obligations under noncancelable operating leases subsequent to December 31, 2011 and March 31, 
2011 were as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Within one year  ¥   750 ¥   692 $  9,642

After one year  2,204 2,318 28,357

 ¥2,954 ¥3,010 $37,999
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15. Financial Instruments
a. Policies for Financial Instruments
The Companies raise funds through bank loans and the issuance of corporate bonds, mainly in accordance with 
their capital investment plans for manufacturing and selling tires, and raise short-term working capital through 
commercial paper.
 Derivative transactions are carried out to reduce risks, as mentioned below, and not for speculative trading.

b. Information and Risks Related to Financial Instruments  
Trade receivables, which are notes and accounts receivable, are subject to customer credit risk. Also, some trade 
receivables denominated in foreign currencies as a result of global business are subject to exchange rate 
fluctuation risk. Therefore, the Companies use forward exchange contracts for hedging purposes.
 Securities, principally corporate equities, are subject to market price fluctuation risk.
 Trade liabilities, which are notes and accounts payable, are mostly due within one year. Some trade liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies in relation to imported raw materials are subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk.
 Bank loans and corporate bonds are for the purpose of capital investment. The longest maturity is five years after  
December 31, 2011. Some of the bank loans and corporate bonds have floating interest rates and are subject to 
interest rate fluctuation risk.
 Derivative transactions are forward exchange contracts and currency swaps for the purpose of hedging against 
exchange rate fluctuation risk in relation to trade receivables and trade liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
and interest rate swaps for the purpose of hedging against interest rate fluctuation risk in relation to bank loans.
 
c. Risk Management of Financial Instruments
(1) Credit Risk Management (Customer Credit Default) 
Under credit management standards, the Companies manage due dates and balances of trade receivables for 
customers to assess and reduce collection risks.
 Derivative transactions are only carried out with highly rated financial institutions to reduce credit risks.
 The amounts of the largest credit risks as of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 are indicated in the balance 
sheets as part of allowance for doubtful receivables.

(2) Market Risk Management (Fluctuation Risk of Foreign Currency Exchange Rates and Interest Rates and Others)
The Company and some of its consolidated subsidiaries use forward exchange contracts and currency swaps to 
hedge against exchange rate fluctuation risk in connection with trade receivables and trade liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies.
 They assess the amount of risk monthly by currency. Some consolidated subsidiaries also use interest swaps to 
hedge against interest rate fluctuation risk in connection with bank loans.
 The Companies regularly assess the fair market value of their holdings of securities issued by entities with which 
they have business relationships. They also assess the financial condition of the issuers of those securities and review 
the holdings in light of the status of their business relationships with the issuers.
 Derivative transactions are carried out under internal regulations that specify trading authority and limits, and 
details of transactions are reported to the responsible executive officers. Consolidated subsidiaries also manage their 
derivative transactions in accordance with the regulations.

(3) Liquidity Risk in Fund-Raising Management (Risk of Being Unable to Make Payment at Due Date)
Based on reports from each department, the corporate finance and accounting department prepares a cash flow 
plan and revises as appropriate to reduce liquidity risk.

d. Supplementary Information about the Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
The fair value of financial instruments is the market price or, for instruments that do not have a market price, a value 
calculated by appropriate means. The calculation of fair values incorporates variables, and the values are therefore 
subject to change,depending on diverse factors. The contract amounts for derivative transactions cited in 
“17. Derivative Instruments” do not indicate the market risk related to derivative transactions.

e. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
The book value and fair value of financial instruments and the differences between them as of December 31, 2011 
and March 31, 2011 were as follows.
 However, financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to ascertain are not included in the table 
below (see Note 2).
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 Millions of Yen

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11) (03.31.11)

    Book Value  Fair Value Difference Book Value Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥  21,751 ¥  21,751 ¥     — ¥  28,161 ¥ 28,161 ¥   —

(2) Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 142,132 142,132 —  111,702 111,702 — 

(3) Investment securities 45,550 45,550 —  53,928 53,928 — 

 Total assets 209,433 209,433 —  193,791 193,791 —

(1) Trade notes and accounts payable 86,962 86,962 —  79,611 79,611 — 

(2) Short-term loans payable 82,239 82,239 —  70,349 70,349 —

(3) Accrued expenses 26,330 26,330 —  28,961 28,961 —

(4) Commercial paper 9,000 9,000 —  3,000 3,000 —

(5) Bonds  20,000 20,309 309 20,000 20,315 315

(6) Long-term loans payable 50,760 51,240 480 53,424 53,991 567

(7) Long-term deposits received 3,194 3,511 317 3,194 3,498 304

 Total liabilities 278,485 279,591 1,106 258,539 259,725 1,186

Derivative transactions* 338 338 —  (283) (283) —

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11)

    Book Value Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits $   279,789 $   279,789 $     —

(2) Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 1,828,296 1,828,296 —

(3) Investment securities 585,929 585,929 —

 Total assets 2,694,014 2,694,014 —

(1) Trade notes and accounts payable 1,118,622 1,118,622 —

(2) Short-term loans payable 1,057,866 1,057,866 —

(3) Accrued expenses 338,696 338,696 —

(4) Commercial paper 115,771 115,771 —

(5) Bonds  257,268 261,248 3,980

(6) Long-term loans payable 652,942 659,115 6,173

(7) Long-term deposits received 41,087 45,171 4,084

 Total liabilities 3,582,252 3,596,489 14,237

Derivative transactions* 4,344 4,344 —

* The net amount of the assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown. If the net amount is a liability, it is presented in 

parenthesis.

Note 1. Method of determining the fair value of financial instruments and securities and derivative transactions

Assets
(1) Cash and deposits and (2) trade receivables: notes and accounts
  The fair value of these assets is approximately equivalent to their book values because of short—term settlement, 

so the book values are indicated.

(3) Investment securities
 The fair value of securities is based on the market price on stock exchanges.
  See "16. Securities" regarding the differences between the amounts booked on the consolidated balance sheets 

and the acquisition costs.
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Liabilities
(1)  Trade notes and accounts payable, (2) short-term loans payable, (3) accrued expenses, 
and (4) commercial paper
  The fair value of these liabilities is approximately equivalent to their book values because of short-term settlement, 

so the book values are indicated.

(5)  Bonds
  The fair value of bonds is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest discounted 

by an interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each bond and credit risk.

(6)  Long-term loans payable
  The fair value of long-term loans payable is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and 

interest discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each loan and 
credit risk. 

(7)  Long-term deposits received
  The fair value of long-term deposits received is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal 

and interest, which are handled together with currency swaps, discounted by an interest rate determined taking 
into account the remaining period of each deposit and credit risk, because long-term deposits received are 
subject to the allocation method of currency swaps.

Derivative transactions
 See “17. Derivative Instruments.”

Note 2. Financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to ascertain were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

   Book Value Book Value Book Value

 Unlisted stock and others ¥5,320 ¥5,432 $68,439

   Note:  These financial instruments are not included in “(3) Investment securities.” It is extremely difficult to 
ascertain the fair values because they do not have market prices.

Note 3. The amount of monetary claims and securities with maturities to be redeemed after the consolidated closing 
  date was as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

   Within One Year Within One Year Within One Year

 Deposits ¥  21,164 ¥  27,244 $   272,247
 Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 142,132 111,702 1,828,296

      Total ¥163,296 ¥138,946 $2,100,543
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Note 4. The amount of bonds, long-term loans payable and other liabilities with interest to be repaid after the 
  consolidated closing date was as follows:

 Millions of Yen

    2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11)

     Over One Over Two Over Three Over Four 
    Within One Year, within Years, within Years, within Years, within Over Five
    Year Two Years Three Years Four Years Five Years Years

Bonds   ¥        —  10,000 ¥10,000 ¥        —  ¥      —  ¥— 

Long-term loans payable 7,147 8,792 18,848 10,270 5,665 38

Other liabilities with interest 91,239 —  —  3,194 —  — 

 Total  ¥98,385 ¥18,792 ¥28,848 ¥13,464 ¥5,665 ¥38

 Millions of Yen

    2 0 1 1

    (03.31.11)

     Over One Over Two Over Three Over Four 
    Within One Year, within Years, within Years, within Years, within Over Five
    Year Two Years Three Years Four Years Five Years Years

Bonds   ¥        —  ¥      —  ¥10,000 ¥10,000 ¥     —  ¥     — 

Long-term loans payable 8,220 8,567 6,565 22,394 2,608 5,070

Other liabilities with interest 73,349 —  —  3,194 —  — 

 Total  ¥81,569 ¥8,567 ¥16,565 ¥35,588 ¥2,608 ¥5,070

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

    2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11)

     Over One Over Two Over Three Over Four 
    Within One Year, within Years, within Years, within Years, within Over Five
    Year Two Years Three Years Four Years Five Years Years

Bonds   $            — $128,634 $128,634 $         — $       — $  — 

Long-term loans payable 91,934 113,099 242,449 132,108 72,867 484

Other liabilities with interest 1,173,637 —  —  41,087 —  — 

 Total  $1,265,571 $241,733 $371,083 $173,195 $72,867 $484
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16. Securities
Cost, carrying amount and unrealized gains and losses pertaining to available-for-sale securities at December 31, 
2011 and March 31, 2011 were as follows: 

 Millions of Yen

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11)

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  
 Cost Amount Gains Losses Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as 
     available for sale:

  Stock ¥27,959 ¥45,550 ¥19,321 ¥(1,730) ¥26,400 ¥53,928 ¥28,322 ¥(794)

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  

 (12.31.11)

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized 
 Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as 
     available for sale:

  Stock $359,647 $585,929 $248,541 $(22,259)

Sales of securities classified as available-for-sale securities and an aggregate gain and loss for the nine months 
ended December 31, 2011 and the year ended March 31, 2011 are immaterial.

Note:  Unlisted stock, whose book value as of December 31, 2011 on the consolidated balance sheet is ¥1,183 million 
($15,220 thousand), is not included in the above table. It is extremely difficult to ascertain the fair values 
because they do not have market prices.

In the preceding table for fiscal year 2011(12.31.11), “cost” is the book value after impairment. Loss for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2011 from revaluation of securities is ¥167 million ($2,154 thousand). The corresponding 
amount for the year ended March 31, 2011 was immaterial.

17. Derivative Instruments
Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has not been applied, at 
December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 was as follows:

 Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

    Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized 
    Amount Fair Value Gains (Losses) Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value Gains (Losses)

Forward exchange 
 contracts:

 RUB  ¥2,355 ¥201 ¥201 ¥2,296 ¥(103) ¥(103) $  30,297 $2,591 $2,591

 EURO  1,943 142 142 2,485 (95) (95) 24,994 1,825  1,825 

 U.S. dollar 2,453 (2) (2) 1,452 (25) (25) 31,553 (25) (25)

 Others  1,842 (4) (4) 1,590 (60) (60) 23,691 (47) (47)

    ¥8,593 ¥337 ¥337 ¥7,823 ¥(283) ¥(283) $110,535 $4,344 $4,344
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 Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

     (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

    Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized 
    Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value Losses

Interest rate swap 
 agreements ¥21 ¥(0) ¥(0) ¥25 ¥(0) ¥(0) $270 $(4) $(4)

Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has been applied, at 
December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 was as follows:
 Millions of Yen

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11)

 Contract Over  Unrealized Contract Over  Unrealized
 Amount One Year Fair Value Losses Amount One Year Fair Value Losses

Forward exchange contracts
 with allocation method: 
Long-term deposits received ¥3,194 ¥3,194 * ¥  — ¥3,194 ¥3,194 *               ¥  —

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11)

 Contract Over  Unrealized 
 Amount One Year Fair Value Losses

Forward exchange contracts
  with allocation method:
Long-term deposits received $41,087 $41,087 $   — $   —

* Amounts settled by the allocation method of currency swaps are handled together with those of the long-term deposits received, which are 
regarded as the hedged items. See "15. Financial Instruments" for their fair value.

18. Pension and Severance Plans
a. The projected benefit obligations, plan assets and composition of amounts recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheets at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Projected benefit obligations ¥(32,848) ¥(28,429) $(422,536)

Fair value of plan assets 7,870 10,461 101,232

Funded status (24,978) (17,968) (321,304)

Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss 6,203 1,240 79,795

Unrecognized prior service cost 373 447 4,795

Net amount recognized ¥(18,402) ¥(16,281) $(236,714)

16. Securities
Cost, carrying amount and unrealized gains and losses pertaining to available-for-sale securities at December 31, 
2011 and March 31, 2011 were as follows: 

 Millions of Yen

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11)

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized  
 Cost Amount Gains Losses Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as 
     available for sale:

  Stock ¥27,959 ¥45,550 ¥19,321 ¥(1,730) ¥26,400 ¥53,928 ¥28,322 ¥(794)

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  

 (12.31.11)

  Carrying Unrealized Unrealized 
 Cost Amount Gains Losses

Securities classified as 
     available for sale:

  Stock $359,647 $585,929 $248,541 $(22,259)

Sales of securities classified as available-for-sale securities and an aggregate gain and loss for the nine months 
ended December 31, 2011 and the year ended March 31, 2011 are immaterial.

Note:  Unlisted stock, whose book value as of December 31, 2011 on the consolidated balance sheet is ¥1,183 million 
($15,220 thousand), is not included in the above table. It is extremely difficult to ascertain the fair values 
because they do not have market prices.

In the preceding table for fiscal year 2011(12.31.11), “cost” is the book value after impairment. Loss for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2011 from revaluation of securities is ¥167 million ($2,154 thousand). The corresponding 
amount for the year ended March 31, 2011 was immaterial.

17. Derivative Instruments
Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has not been applied, at 
December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 was as follows:

 Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

    2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

    (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

    Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized Contract  Unrealized 
    Amount Fair Value Gains (Losses) Amount Fair Value Losses Amount Fair Value Gains (Losses)

Forward exchange 
 contracts:

 RUB  ¥2,355 ¥201 ¥201 ¥2,296 ¥(103) ¥(103) $  30,297 $2,591 $2,591

 EURO  1,943 142 142 2,485 (95) (95) 24,994 1,825  1,825 

 U.S. dollar 2,453 (2) (2) 1,452 (25) (25) 31,553 (25) (25)

 Others  1,842 (4) (4) 1,590 (60) (60) 23,691 (47) (47)

    ¥8,593 ¥337 ¥337 ¥7,823 ¥(283) ¥(283) $110,535 $4,344 $4,344
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b. The components of net pension and severance costs for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and the 
year ended March 31, 2011 were as follows:

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (04.01.11– (04.01.10– (04.01.11–

 12.31.11) 03.31.11) 12.31.11)

Service cost ¥1,382 ¥1,767 $17,773

Interest cost 465 575 5,977

Expected return on plan assets — — —

Recognized actuarial losses 253 402 3,249

Recognized prior service cost 74 100 961

Pension and severance cost due to change in method for calculating  
    retirement benefit obligations 3,018 — 38,830

Net periodic benefit cost 5,192 2,844 66,790

Gain on change of pension and severance plan (200) — (2,577)

Contribution of defined contribution benefit plan 435  496  5,596

 ¥5,427 ¥3,340 $69,809

c. Assumptions used as of December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2011 were as follows:
 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11)

Discount rate mainly 1.6% 2.5%
Expected return rate on plan assets  0.00% 0.00%
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19. Deferred Income Taxes
a. Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2011 and March 31, 
2011 were as follows:
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

Deferred tax assets:

 Liabilities for pension and severance payments ¥12,223 ¥11,384 $157,228

 Net operating loss carry forwards 389 1,098 5,000

 Unrealized profits 2,600 3,085 33,439

 Accrued expenses 1,002 2,375 12,890

 Loss on revaluation of investment securities 58 54 741

 Other  9,281 7,251 119,397

  Gross deferred tax assets 25,553 25,247 328,695

 Less valuation allowance (924) (3,364) (11,884)

  Total deferred tax assets 24,629 21,883 316,811

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Unrealized gains on securities (6,155) (11,040) (79,168)

 Liabilities for pension and severance payments (3,446) (3,446) (44,334)

 Gain on receipt of stock set by pension plan (2,103) (2,103) (27,048)

 Property, plant and equipment (1,501) (1,610) (19,305)

 Other  (1,704) (1,510) (21,924)

  Total deferred tax liabilities (14,909) (19,709) (191,779)

  Net deferred tax assets ¥   9,720 ¥    2,174 $   125,032

b. A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rates for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2011 and the year ended March 31, 2011 was as follows:

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1

 (04.01.11– (04.01.10–

 12.31.11) 03.31.11)

Statutory income tax rate 40.3% 40.3%
Permanently nondeductible expenses 1.6  1.4

Permanently nontaxable income (1.5) (1.6)

Tax deduction for research and development (1.9) —

Valuation allowance (14.7) (5.4)

Reversal of tax effect due to change in corporate income tax rate 3.3  —

Other   (1.0) (2.3)

Effective income tax rates 26.1% 32.4%
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c. Recalculation of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities due to a change in corporate income tax rates. 
On December 2, 2011,“Act on the Partial Revision of the Income Tax Act for the Establishment of a Taxation System
Responding to Structural Transformation of Economy and Society”(Act No. 114 of 2011) and “Act on Special 
Measures for Securing Financial Resources Needed to Implement Measures to Recover From the Great East Japan 
Earthquake” (Act No. 117 of 2011) were issued. By these acts, the corporate tax rate will be changed from fiscal 
years beginning on or after April 1, 2012. Therefore, the effective statutory tax rate, which is used to calculate the 
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities, will be as follows, depending when the temporary differences will 
reverse: 

 Until December 31, 2012 : 40.3% 
 From January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2015: 37.6%
 On and after January 1, 2016: 35.3%

As a result, deferred tax assets and liabilities decreased by ¥387 million ($4,976 thousand) and ¥708 million ($9,105 
thousand), respectively, while unrealized gains on securities and adjustment on corporate tax, etc, increased by 
¥872 million ($11,214 thousand) and ¥551 million ($7,085 thousand), respectively.

20. Business Combinations
Transactions under common control for the nine months ended December 31, 2011
The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality.

Transactions under common control for the year ended March 31, 2011
A domestic consolidated subsidiary, Yokohama Rubber MBE Co., Ltd. and seven other domestic consolidated 
subsidiaries that sell industrial products merged on October 1, 2010. An outline of the merger is as follows:

a. Outline of the Business Combination
 1. Name of the company
  Yokohama Rubber MBE Co., Ltd. and seven other consolidated subsidiaries
 2. Description of the business
  Sales of various industrial products
 3. Date of the business combination
  October 1, 2010
 4. Legal form of the business combination
   The business combination was a merger by absorption, with Yokohama Rubber MBE Co., Ltd. as the 

surviving company
 5. Name of the company after the business combination
  Yokohama Industrial Products Japan Co., Ltd. (a consolidated subsidiary)
 6. Reason for the business combination
   The purpose of this business combination is to reinforce its domestic sales performance by reorganizing 

eight subsidiaries and a part of the industrial sales department of the Company. This merger improves 
customer service, establishes a more strategic management system, and reinforces sales connected to 
communities by introducing an in-house company system.

b. Outline of Accounting Method
  Based on “Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No. 21, December 26, 2008) and 

revised implementation guidance “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and 
Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 10, December 26, 2008), the above 
business combination is accounted for as transactions under common control.

21. Segment Information
(1) Outline of Reportable Segments
  The Company’s reportable segments are the organizational units for which the Company is able to obtain 

individual financial information in order for the Board of Directors to regularly review performance to determine 
distribution of management resources and evaluate its business results.

   The Company classifies organizational units by products and services. Each organizational unit plans 
domestic or overseas general strategies for its products and services and operates its business.

   Therefore, the Company is organized by business segments, and its reportable segments are “Tires” and 
“Industrial Products.”
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(2) Methods of Calculating the Amount of Sales, Income (Loss), Assets, Liabilities, and Other Items by Reportable 
Segments

  Accounting methods for reportable segments are mostly the same as “2. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies”.

   Profits from reportable segments are operating income, and inter-segment income and transfers are based 
on prevailing market prices

(3)  Information on sales, income (loss), assets, liabilities, and other items by reportable segments for the nine months 
ended December 31, 2011 and for the year ended March 31, 2011 is as follows:

 Millions of Yen

      Reportable
     Industrial Segment      Consolidated
    Tires Products Total Others Total Adjustments Amount

 Nine months ended December 31, 2011

Sales to third parties ¥379,220 ¥68,179 ¥447,399 ¥17,735 ¥465,134 ¥          — ¥465,134

Intergroup sales and transfers 1,371 71 1,442 3,074 4,516 (4,516)                   —

Total sales  380,591 68,250 448,841 20,809 469,650 (4,516) 465,134

Segment income ¥  23,366 ¥  1,686 ¥  25,052 ¥  1,245 ¥  26,297 ¥          (6) ¥ 26,291

Segment assets ¥393,704 ¥60,934 ¥454,638 ¥57,222 ¥511,860 ¥(10,074) ¥501,786

Other items

 Depreciation and amortization ¥  16,645 ¥  2,163 ¥  18,808 ¥      581 ¥  19,389 ¥       482 ¥  19,871

 Amortization of goodwill ¥       441 ¥       — ¥       441 ¥        — ¥       441 ¥         — ¥       441

 Investment in equity method

    affiliates ¥    1,376 ¥       — ¥    1,376 ¥        — ¥    1,376 ¥         — ¥    1,376

 Increase of tangible and

    intangible fixed assets ¥  19,520 ¥  2,103 ¥  21,623 ¥      461 ¥  22,084 ¥       349 ¥  22,433

 Year ended March 31, 2011

Sales to third parties ¥411,574 ¥83,835 ¥495,409 ¥24,333 ¥519,742 ¥         — ¥519,742

Intergroup sales and transfers 1,798 79 1,877 4,310 6,187 (6,187)                   —

Total sales  413,372 83,914 497,286 28,643 525,929 (6,187) 519,742

Segment income ¥  24,953 ¥  3,034 ¥  27,987 ¥  1,519 ¥  29,506 ¥       (15) ¥  29,491

Segment assets ¥368,083 ¥59,316 ¥427,399 ¥64,519 ¥491,918 ¥(13,002) ¥478,916

Other items

 Depreciation and amortization ¥  21,340 ¥  3,214 ¥  24,554 ¥     845 ¥  25,399 ¥       486 ¥  25,885

 Investment in equity method

    affiliates ¥    1,161 ¥       — ¥    1,161 ¥       — ¥    1,161 ¥         — ¥    1,161

 Increase of tangible and

    intangible fixed assets ¥  22,221 ¥  2,297 ¥  24,518 ¥     138 ¥  24,656 ¥      288 ¥  24,944



58 

 Thousands of U.S. Dollars

      Reportable
     Industrial Segment    Consolidated 
    Tires Products Total Others Total Adjustments   Amount
 Nine months ended December 31, 2011

Sales to third parties $4,878,059 $877,018 $5,755,077 $228,121 $5,983,198 $           — $5,983,198

Intergroup sales and transfers 17,637 911 18,548 39,546 58,094 (58,094)     —

Total sales  4,895,696 877,929 5,773,625 267,667 6,041,292 (58,094) 5,983,198

Segment income $   300,563 $  21,682 $   322,245 $  16,016 $   338,261 $         (73) $   338,188

Segment assets $5,064,369 $783,816 $5,848,185 $736,068 $6,584,253 $(129,583) $6,454,670

Other items

 Depreciation and amortization $   214,108 $  27,831 $   241,939 $    7,471 $   249,410 $      6,196 $   255,606

 Amortization of goodwill $       5,675 $          — $       5,675 $         — $       5,675 $           — $       5,675

 Investment in equity method

    affiliates $     17,694 $         — $     17,694 $         — $     17,694 $           — $    17,694

 Increase of tangible and

    intangible fixed assets $   251,093 $  27,055 $   278,148 $   5,925 $   284,073 $     4,496 $  288,569

Notes:
 1.  The “Others” category incorporates operations not included in reportable segments, including aircraft 

products and sports products.

 2. Adjustments are as follows:
  (1) Segment income adjustments are the elimination of inter-segment transactions.
  (2)  Segment asset adjustments for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 of ¥10,074 million ($129,582 

thousand) were the elimination of inter-segment transactions of ¥30,851 million ($396,844 thousand) and 
“Corporate” assets of ¥20,777 million ($267,262 thousand). “Corporate” assets primarily consist of 
accumulated working capital and investments in securities.

     The corresponding amounts for the year ended March 31, 2011 of ¥13,002 million ($156,371 
thousand) were the elimination of inter-segment transactions of ¥35,485 million ($426,760 thousand) and 
“Corporate” assets of ¥22,483 million ($270,389 thousand). “Corporate” assets primarily consist of 
accumulated working capital and investments in securities.

 3. Segment income was adjusted with operating income presented in the consolidated statements of income.

Related information for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and for the year ended March 31, 2011
1. Product and service information
 Information has been omitted as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments.

2. Information about geographic areas 
 (1) Sales

  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  

 (04.01.11– (04.01.10– (04.01.11– 

 12.31.11) 03.31.11) 12.31.11)

 Japan ¥245,428 ¥281,330 $3,157,033

 United States of America 95,607 105,961 1,229,831

 Others 124,099 132,451 1,596,334

      Total ¥465,134 ¥519,742 $5,983,198

  Note: Sales are based on the location of clients classified by country.
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 (2) Property, plant and equipment
  Thousands of 
 Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars

 2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  2 0 1 1  

 (12.31.11) (03.31.11) (12.31.11)

 Japan ¥105,838 ¥113,000 $1,361,436

 Thailand 22,059 23,357 283,753
 Others 46,712 41,013 600,873

      Total ¥174,609 ¥177,370 $2,246,062

 3. External customer information
Disclosure of information on external customers is not required as there were no sales to a single external 
customer amounting to 10% or more of the Company’s net sales.

Impairment losses on fixed assets by reportable segment  for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and 
for the year ended March 31, 2011
 The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality.

Amortization of goodwill and the amortization balance by reportable segment as of and for the nine months 
ended December 31, 2011 and as of and for the year ended March 31, 2011
As of and for the nine months ended December 31, 2011
 Information has been omitted as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments.
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2011
 The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality.

Gains on negative goodwill by reportable segment for the nine months ended December 31, 2011 and for the 
year ended March 31, 2011

 The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality.
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Robust and Responsive Growth
Grand Design 100: Phase III Begins




